

Universidade de Brasília

Instituto de Ciências Biológicas

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia



I

Multi-scale biodiversity-ecosystem service relationship: The role of landscape, diversity and trophic networks on biological control by parasitoids

**Gabriel Marins** 

**Orientador**: Prof. Dr. Pedro Henrique Brum Togni **Coorientador**: Dr. Raúl Alberto Laumann

Brasília - DF, março de 2024.



Universidade de Brasília

Instituto de Ciências Biológicas

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia



Relação biodiversidade-serviço ecossistêmico em múltiplas escalas: O papel das paisagens, da diversidade e das redes de interações locais no controle biológico por parasitoides

### **Gabriel Marins**

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Pedro Henrique Brum Togni Coorientador: Dr. Raúl Alberto Laumann

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia do Instituto de

Ciências Biológicas da Universidade de Brasília como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia.

Brasília - DF, março de 2024.



Universidade de Brasília

Instituto de Ciências Biológicas

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia



# Multi-scale biodiversity-ecosystem service relationship: The role of landscape, diversity and trophic networks on biological control by parasitoids

Membros da banca: Rosana Tidon, Marcus Vinicius Sampaio, Suplente: Fernanda Vieira da Costa, Presidente: Pedro Henrique Brum Togni

#### **AGRADECIMENTOS**

Primeiramente, agradeço a minha família por todo o suporte que me deram para buscar e alcançar meus objetivos. Aos meus pais Fabiana e César, que sempre me apoiaram e incentivaram a curiosidade que me faz hoje um cientista. À minha esposa Anandha Almeida, agradeço por todo apoio e companheirismo, pelas incontáveis horas de, como você mesma diria, "consultorias" que foram fundamentais para que eu conduzisse esse trabalho da melhor forma possível durante o período mais intenso da minha vida. Agradeço a minha filha Irene, pelos momentos e sorrisos que me permitiram relaxar e entender o que realmente importa e, principalmente, pela motivação e responsabilidade que me fizeram levantar da cama dia após dia. Também não poderia deixar de agradecer à minha irmã, minhas cunhadas e minha sogra pelo imenso apoio na criação da minha pequena.

Deixo também, um agradecimento especial a meu falecido avô Glauco, uma das pessoas mais alegres que me cruzaram a vida e que hoje me faz tanta falta. Hoje percebo que ele foi um dos maiores responsáveis pelo meu amor pela biologia. As incontáveis horas ajudando a cuidar dos passarinhos e folheando os livros da coleção "Os Bichos" para depois desenharmos os mais interessantes. Avô, enquanto eu for um Biólogo, Ecólogo e Cientista, o senhor estará vivo aqui dentro.

Agradeço ao meu orientador Pedro Togni, por uma orientação de excelência que mesmo assim nunca abriu mão da empatia. Isso foi essencial para que eu pudesse realizar meu trabalho de forma tranquila (quando possível). Ao Raúl Laumann que foi meu coorientador, agradeço por todo apoio e orientação tranquila e assertiva, sempre disponível para conversar sobre hipóteses e reflexões, complementando imensamente as discussões desenvolvidas ao longo do trabalho.

À Universidade de Brasília e ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia (PPGECL) pela oportunidade de realização do curso e aperfeiçoamento. A Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) pela concessão da bolsa de mestrado. À Fundação de Apoio à Pesquisa do Distrito Federal (FAPDF) e à Embrapa pela concessão de recursos que permitiram o financiamento da pesquisa.

Aos agricultores que me receberam em suas propriedades Marilúcio João da Silva, Paulo Henrique Carvalhêdo Nenevê, Fábio Athushi Higa, João Lopes de Souza, Maria Aparecida Pereira da Silva, Tânia, Juan, Guilherme, José Cândido, José Inácio, José Ebalde, Neli Christ, Daniel, Cleides Veloso Teixeira Reis, Massae Watanabe, Osmany, Sítio Gerâniium, sem vocês a realização deste projeto não seria possível. Agradeço também à EMATER-DF, que ajudou na seleção das áreas e no contato com os produtores.

Agradeço a Rosana Tidon, Marcus Vinicius Sampaio e Fernanda Vieira da Costa por aceitarem fazer parte da minha banca.

A todos os colaboradores do Laboratório de Ecologia de Insetos (LECOI) e do Laboratório de Semioquímicos da EMBRAPA Cenargen, os quais foram essenciais para a realização deste trabalho. Aos meus colegas e amigos Amanda, Danielle, Luan e Rafaela, obrigada por poder contar com vocês e por saber que eu não estava sozinha, por me ajudarem nos campos e nas atividades de laboratório. Obrigada também pela amizade Arthur, Aline, Érika, Gustavo, Karen, Michelle, Roberta, Stella e Stephanie, e também por contribuírem com os experimentos no campo e no laboratório.

A meus amigos "Velhos Rabugentos no R" que contribuíram imensamente com discussões e descontrações essenciais para tornar este processo mais amigável.

### SUMÁRIO

| GENERAL ABSTRACT   |   |
|--|---|
| RESUMO GERAL   | 9   |
| KEYWORDS   |   |
| PALAVRAS-CHAVE   | 10  |
| GENERAL INTRODUCTION   |   |
| OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESIS  | 14  |
| REFERENCES   |   |
| CHAPTER 1: Through the green mosaic: different tropical vegeta complementary effects on parasitoid diversity and biological control in o | ation formations have<br>organic agroecosystems<br> |
| Abstract   |   |
| 1. Introduction  |   |
| 2. Material e Methods  |   |
| 3. Results   |   |
| 4. Discussion  |   |
| 5. Conclusions   |   |
| 6. References  |   |
| CHAPTER 2: Using network theory to understand and predict the role of  | alternative resources on                            |
| biological control by parasitoids  |   |
| Abstract   |   |
| 1. Introduction  | 55  |
| 2. Material e Methods  |   |
| 3. Results   |   |
| 4. Discussion  |   |
| 5. References  |   |

#### **GENERAL ABSTRACT**

The threat suffered by the world's biodiversity has raised concern about the provision of ecosystem services essential for human life. Yet, biodiversity conservation does not guarantee ecosystem service provision, given species' interactions and variable responses to local and landscape factors. This work is divided into two chapters, both performed in 25 organic brassica crop fields from the Brazilian Federal District. In the first chapter, we evaluate how the landscape and local resources affect parasitoid diversity and aphid biological control. Locally, we compared parasitoid communities within the crops and on adjacent non-crop stripes and evaluated the effect of flower resource abundance on parasitoid diversity. At the landscape scale, we analyzed the effect of natural areas and their specific vegetational formations on parasitoid diversity and the scale of these effects. To close the first chapter, we evaluated the relationship between biodiversity and biological control. In the second chapter, we evaluate how non-crop plant stripes affect the network of interaction involving parasitoids and aphids in organic tropical brassica crops. First, we compared the topology of the interaction networks within the crops and on adjacent non-crop plants based on modularity and nestedness. Subsequently, we used the information from the networks to conduct simulate host-parasitoid population dynamics in scenarios of normal conditions, favoring an alternative native host, favoring an alternative pest, and favoring an alternative parasitoid. For that we used an adapted version of the generalized Lotka-Volterra model. In our first chapter, we showed that: non-crop plants sustain parasitoid richness, but their flower resource abundance disrupts it; landscape composition outweighs local resources in mediating parasitoid diversity; near-crop forests (0.42 km) aid parasitoid richness, while farther grasslands (1.75 km) aid abundance; savannas boost both forest benefits on parasitoid richness and grassland benefits on abundance; positive biodiversity-pest control relationships occur only in moderately rich fields. In our second chapter, we showed that: interactions in the lower trophic level tend to be more nested, while in the higher trophic level they are more modular; most significant differences in network metrics between crop fields and non-crop plant stripes occurred at the higher trophic level; differences in modularity between non-crop plants and brassica fields were significantly larger than expected at random, while differences in nestedness were significantly smaller than expected at random; the difference in nestedness between aphid-parasitoid networks sustained by different non-crop plants was significantly smaller than expected at random; alternative hosts and parasitoids can help control the populations of the main brassica pest Brevicoryne brassicae. Our findings show that natural vegetation formations with different tree densities have complementary effects in parasitoid diversity in tropical agroecosystems and represent a useful baseline for development of management and zoning plans. Furthermore, we show that parasitoid trophic interactions sustained by non-crop plants represent interesting targets for management plans since they can influence pest populations in these systems.

#### **RESUMO GERAL**

A ameaça sofrida pela biodiversidade mundial tem levantado preocupações sobre a provisão de serviços ecossistêmicos essenciais para a vida humana. No entanto, a conservação da biodiversidade não garante a provisão desses serviços, devidos as interações entre espécies e as respostas variáveis aos fatores locais e da paisagem. Este trabalho está dividido em dois capítulos, ambos realizados em 25 propriedades de cultivo orgânico de brássicas do Distrito Federal. No primeiro capítulo, avaliamos como a paisagem e os recursos locais afetam a diversidade de parasitoides e o controle biológico de pulgões. Localmente, comparamos as comunidades de parasitoides dentro das culturas e em faixas de plantas espontâneas adjacentes e avaliamos o efeito da abundância de recursos florais na diversidade de parasitoides. Na escala da paisagem, analisamos o efeito de áreas naturais e suas formações vegetais na diversidade de parasitoides e em qual escala ocorrem esses efeitos. Para encerrar o primeiro capítulo, avaliamos a relação entre biodiversidade e controle biológico. No segundo capítulo, avaliamos como faixas de plantas espontâneas afetam a rede de interação envolvendo parasitoides e pulgões. Primeiramente, comparamos a topologia das redes de interação dentro das culturas e em plantas não cultivadas adjacentes com base na modularidade e no aninhamento. Em seguida, usamos as informações das redes para simular a dinâmica populacional hospedeiro-parasitoide em cenários de condições normais, favorecendo um hospedeiro nativo alternativo, favorecendo uma praga alternativa e favorecendo um parasitoide alternativo. Para isso, utilizamos uma versão adaptada do modelo de Lotka-Volterra generalizado. Em nosso primeiro capítulo, mostramos que: as plantas não cultivadas sustentam a riqueza de parasitoides, mas a abundância de recursos florais é negativa; a composição da paisagem supera os recursos locais na mediação da diversidade de parasitoides; florestas próximas às culturas (0,42 km) auxiliam na riqueza de parasitoides, enquanto campos mais distantes (1,75 km) beneficiam a abundância; savanas impulsionam tanto os benefícios da floresta na riqueza de parasitoides quanto os benefícios da pastagem na abundância; as relações positivas entre biodiversidade e controle de pragas ocorrem apenas em campos moderadamente ricos. Em nosso segundo capítulo, mostramos que: as interações no nível trófico inferior tendem a ser mais aninhadas, enquanto no nível trófico superior são mais modulares; as diferenças mais significativas nas métricas de rede entre campos de cultivo e faixas de plantas não cultivadas ocorreram no nível trófico superior; as diferenças na modularidade entre plantas não cultivadas e campos de brássicas foram significativamente maiores do que o esperado ao acaso, enquanto as diferenças no aninhamento foram significativamente menores do que o esperado ao acaso; a diferença no aninhamento entre as redes de pulgões-parasitoides sustentadas por diferentes plantas espontâneas foi significativamente menor do que o esperado ao acaso; hospedeiros e parasitoides alternativos podem ajudar a controlar as populações da principal praga de brassicas *Brevicoryne brassicae*. Nossas descobertas mostram que formações de vegetação natural com diferentes densidades de árvores têm efeitos complementares na diversidade de parasitoides em agroecossistemas tropicais e representam uma linha de base útil para o desenvolvimento de planos de manejo e zoneamento. Além disso, mostramos que as interações tróficas de parasitoides sustentadas por plantas não cultivadas representam alvos interessantes para planos de manejo, pois podem influenciar as populações de pragas nesses sistemas.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Ecosystem services, Applied ecology, Agroecology, Cerrado

#### PALAVRAS-CHAVE

Serviços ecossistêmicos, Ecologia Aplicada, Agroecologia, Cerrado

#### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

The threat suffered by global Biodiversity generates concern about the maintenance of its ecosystem services (Cardinale et al., 2012). It is a fact that there is a relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem service provision (Tilman et al., 2001; Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Brockerhoff et al., 2017). However, a positive effect on service provision is not always achieved by increasing biodiversity (Straub et al., 2008; Letourneauet al., 2009; Macfadyen et al., 2011a; Forrester & Bauhus, 2016), and it is necessary to understand how species interact with each other. Biological control services, for example, can be negatively affected by increases in natural enemy diversity if the added species interact antagonistically, for example, through competition, intraguild predation, or hyperparasitism (Martin et al., 2013; Tougeron & Tena, 2019). Conversely, a positive effect of biodiversity on this service is expected when there is complementarity in resource utilization by the present natural enemies (Macfadyen et al., 2011a). In this context, the structure of these interaction networks is mediated by different landscape scales, which, influence from the regional pool of species to the need for them to compete for resources or the possibility of using them in a complementary way (Brose et al., 2004; Janssen et al., 2007; Cagnolo et al., 2009; Macfadyen et al., 2009; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Landis, 2017). In other words, different landscape scales can affect the provision of ecosystem services by mediating species diversity and their network of interactions.

Landscape structure, defined by the interaction between its composition and configuration can differentially influence the diversity of natural enemies in agroecosystems and their biological control service (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011; Woltz et al., 2012; Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2013; Rusch et al., 2016; Landis, 2017, Karp et al., 2018). Chaplin-Kramer et al (2011) suggest that natural enemies benefit from an increment in landscape complexity, with specialists being primarily influenced at smaller spatial scales, while generalists respond well to different scales. In a quantitative overview, Rusch and colleagues (2016) documented that biological control in areas with more complex landscapes almost doubled that found in areas with more homogeneous landscapes dominated by cropland. At the population level, higher proportions of natural habitats around a cultivated area can increase the density of aphid consumers, reducing its population growth and decreasing its density at harvest (Chaplin-Kramer, 2013). In addition to the proportion of natural areas, configuration metrics like edge density, and distance between cultivated and natural environments influence the spill-over of natural enemies into crop fields (Karp et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2019). At last, studies on the relationship between landscapes and biological control are lacking in the tropical region, which often show different responses compared to temperate regions (de Aquino et al., 2023; Novaes et al., 2024).

Thus, landscape composition and configuration, are key to understanding biological control provisioning, especially in the tropical region.

Apart from affecting the diversity of agroecosystems, the landscape can also mediate important features of its species interaction networks, such as interaction richness, modularity, and interaction nestedness (Post & Hairston, 2000; Tylianakis et al., 2007). In pollination networks, for example, interaction richness (the number of interactions in the network) decreases twice as fast as species richness with decreasing habitat area, but it also depends on the centrality of local species (Sabatino et al., 2010; Assunção et al., 2022). In networks of pest natural enemies, modularity (compartmentalization), had a positive relationship with the variety of habitats and their identities, suggesting that each module represents a set of interactions between species using the same habitats (Macfadyen et al., 2011b). Furthermore, modified and homogeneous habitats may decrease this measure as they are favorable for generalist species connecting the different modules (Tylianakis et al., 2007; Aizen et al., 2008). For interaction nesting, which reflects how much specialist interactions are a subset of more generalist ones, an increase is expected in homogeneous landscapes and with habitat suppression (Tylianakis et al., 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2011; Macfadyen et al., 2011b). Furthermore, habitat suppression can differentially affect different components and compartments of the network (Cagnolo et al., 2009), releasing species from top-down control and resulting in the loss of ecosystem services provided by higher trophic levels (Post & Hairston, 2000; Dobson, 2009).

Along with landscape structure, habitat management can also affect the diversity and network of natural enemies interactions (Landis et al. 2000; Macfadyen et al., 2009; Landis, 2017; Blassioli-Moraes et al., 2022). In this context, the Conservation Biological Control (CBC) strategies, which consists of favoring the action of natural enemies of agricultural pests through the conservation and management of resources and habitats in cultivated and adjacent areas, represents an alternative to increasing the availability of resources, shelter, prey, and alternative hosts of natural enemies (Shields et al., 2019; Venzon et al., 2021; Blassioli-Moraes et al., 2022). An economically viable CBC technique is spontaneous plant management (Venzon et al., 2019). Their use is a good alternative to increase the variety of habitats within cultivated areas, the permeability between cultivated and natural habitats, as well as floral, prey, and host resources allowing greater complementarity in resource use by natural enemies, resulting in an increase in biological control (Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Macfadyen et al., 2011b; Hatt et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2019). Moreover, the presence of non-crop plants has already been related to higher survival and attraction of native natural enemies over exotic representatives, preventing the destructuring of the interaction network by hyper generalist species (Aizen et al., 2008; Amaral et al., 2013). Given this, studying how spontaneous plants can contribute

to the increase of natural enemies in CBC strategies, will contribute to the theoretical knowledge of the biodiversity-service relationship and to the reconciliation between biodiversity conservation and agricultural productivity.

Parasitoid wasps (Hymenoptera) comprise a large group of natural enemies of agricultural pests widely used in biological control strategies (Thies et al., 2003; Tylianakis et al., 2004; Plećaš et al., 2014; Gontijo et al., 2015; Eid et al., 2018; Kaser & Heimpel, 2018). These wasps are important in pest control because they oviposit on the hosts, which generally start to develop more slowly, consume less food, and upon hatching, the larvae feed on the host causing its death (Quicke, 2014). Although it is a much-studied group in relation to providing the ecosystem service of biological control, studies relating landscape characteristics to biological control efficiency shows contradictory results. While Thies and collaborators (2003) suggest that higher landscape complexity leads to increased parasitism and decreased herbivory in cultivation, other authors have shown that landscape complexity and farming systems did not affect parasitoid diversity and parasitoid-host interactions (Macfadyen et al., 2009; Hawro et al., 2017) or that both pest and parasitoid populations increase in response to landscape complexity (Plećaš et al., 2014). In this sense, it is necessary to study how parasitoids interact with factors at different spatial scales in order to support management strategies that effectively increase the biological control services of these natural enemies in the crops.

In addition to landscape structure, parasitoids also respond to resource availability at the local scale, making them useful models for the study and application of CBC (Hatt et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2020). This influence occurs in two distinct ways: i) increasing these resources may allow for alternative hosts, i.e., new oviposition sites and food resources for the larvae (Holzschuh et al., 2010) and ii) increasing these resources may increase the abundance of floral resources, on which the adult parasitoids feed (Lavandero et al., 2005; Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Hatt et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2020). Non-crop plant strips can promote an increase in host diversity and abundance and are important for maintaining, primarily, specialist parasitoids (Tscharntke, et al., 2005; Holzschuh et al., 2010). However, because adult parasitoids need resources to develop before ovipositing, their maintenance in cultivated habitats may be mediated primarily by floral resources at the expense of host abundance (Hatt et al., 2018). Strips with a high abundance of floral resources can increase the parasitism rate found in a crop by almost 100%, and this effect is affected by the distance from the resources (Lavandero et al., 2005), showing its importance in increasing habitat permeability to parasitoids. In addition, functional traits such as flower color and nectar availability are also important mediators of their attraction to parasitoids (Hatt et al., 2018). Therefore, it is necessary to understand how

parasitoids interact with floral resources and alternative hosts in order to understand which features of these resources enhance their biological control service.

Given the above, it can be seen that the provision of biological control service by parasitoid wasps is affected by distinct features at different scales through changes in diversity and interactions between parasitoids and their main resources: hosts and floral resources (Tscharntke, et al., 2005; Macfadyen et al., 2009; Holzschuh et al., 2010; Hatt et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2019). At a regional scale, landscape composition is primarily responsible for mediating the pool of species able to colonize an area (Woltz et al., 2012; Chaplin-Kramer, 2013; Plećaš et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2019). While on a local scale, colonization will depend on the dispersal ability of parasitoids and how the landscape configuration mediates crop permeability by affecting the abundance and distribution of resources along its extent (Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Hatt et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2019). In this sense, spontaneous plants present an economically viable option to increase the abundance of floral resources and, consequently, the permeability of cultivated environments for parasitoid wasps (Venzon et al., 2019). Thus, these plants should affect the network of plant-host-parasitoid interactions, possibly increasing the biological control service depending on how this influence is expressed.

#### **OBJECTIVES E HYPOTHESIS**

The aim of this study is to answer how landscape and local resources mediate parasitoid diversity, their interactions with hosts, and biological control services in cultivated habitats. In order to answer this question, we will specifically investigate: i) How floral resources and host availability interact with the landscape in maintaining parasitoid diversity in cultivated habitats (first chapter); ii) How spontaneous plants affect the topology of crop-plant-host-parasitoid interaction networks (second chapter); iii) How the diversity and topology of interaction networks involving parasitoids influence the provision of biological control service in cultivated areas (both chapters).

As more natural landscapes provide a larger pool of species that could potentially colonize crop habitats, a greater abundance of local resources should attract more species by increasing habitat permeability, and concomitantly should allow subnetworks of interactions to take place across different habitat types. Therefore we expect that greater local resource availability and proportions of natural areas in the landscape will generate increases in parasitoid diversity and linkage richness as well as in the modularity of the network of aphid interactions and the complementarity of resource use among modules, culminating in more effective biological control. In this sense, our specific hypotheses are: i) Floral resource abundances and host densities have a positive relationship with parasitoid diversity, especially in landscapes dominated by natural areas; ii) In mostly natural landscapes, spontaneous plants will increase link richness, network modularity and decrease link nesting, increasing complementarity in resource use and presenting high link centrality by acting as connectors of different groups of interactions (modules). iii) More diverse communities of parasitoids will show higher parasitism rates and therefore intensity of biological control. Concomitantly, communities with more modular networks with less nesting between modules, by presenting greater complementarity, will increase the provision of this service.

#### REFERENCES

- Aizen, M. A., Morales, C. L., & Morales, J. M. (2008). Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. PLoS biology, 6(2), e31.
- Amaral, D. S., Venzon, M., Duarte, M. V., Sousa, F. F., Pallini, A., & Harwood, J. D. (2013). Noncrop vegetation associated with chili pepper agroecosystems promote the abundance and survival of aphid predators. Biological Control, 64(3), 338-346.
- Assunção, R. M., Camargo, N. F., Souza, L. S., Rocha, E. M., Tostes, G. M., Sujii, E. R., ... & Togni,
  P. H. (2022). Landscape conservation and local interactions with non-crop plants aid in structuring bee assemblages in organic tropical agroecosystems. Journal of Insect Conservation, 26(6), 933-945.
- Bianchi, F. J., & Wäckers, F. L. (2008). Effects of flower attractiveness and nectar availability in field margins on biological control by parasitoids. Biological control, 46(3), 400-408.
- Blassioli-Moraes, M. C., Venzon, M., Silveira, L. C. P., Gontijo, L. M., Togni, P. H. B., Sujii, E. R., ... & Birkett, M. (2022). Companion and Smart Plants: Scientific Background to Promote Conservation Biological Control. Neotropical Entomology, 1-17.
- Brockerhoff, E. G., Barbaro, L., Castagneyrol, B., Forrester, D. I., Gardiner, B., González-Olabarria, J. R., ... & Jactel, H. (2017). Forest biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services. Biodiversity and Conservation, 26(13), 3005-3035.
- Brose, U., Ostling, A., Harrison, K., & Martinez, N. D. (2004). Unified spatial scaling of species and their trophic interactions. Nature, 428(6979), 167-171.

- Cagnolo, L., Valladares, G., Salvo, A., Cabido, M., & Zak, M. (2009). Habitat fragmentation and species loss across three interacting trophic levels: effects of life-history and food-web traits. Conservation biology, 23(5), 1167-1175.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., ... & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486(7401), 59-67.
- Carvalheiro, L. G., Biesmeijer, J. C., Benadi, G., Fründ, J., Stang, M., Bartomeus, I., ... & Kunin, W.
   E. (2014). The potential for indirect effects between co-flowering plants via shared pollinators depends on resource abundance, accessibility and relatedness. Ecology letters, 17(11), 1389-1399.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., O'Rourke, M. E., Blitzer, E. J., & Kremen, C. (2011). A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. Ecology letters, 14(9), 922-932.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., de Valpine, P., Mills, N. J., & Kremen, C. (2013). Detecting pest control services across spatial and temporal scales. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 181, 206-212.
- de Aquino, M. F. S., Sujii, E. R., de Noronha, S. E., Borges, M., Blassioli-Moraes, M. C., & Laumann,R. A. (2023). Influence of landscape structure on stink bug and their adult parasitoid populations on soybean culture. BioControl, 1-10.
- Dobson, A. (2009). Food-web structure and ecosystem services: insights from the Serengeti. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364(1524), 1665-1682.
- Eid, A. E., El-Heneidy, A. H., Hafez, A. A., Shalaby, F. F., & Adly, D. (2018). On the control of the cotton aphid, Aphis gossypii Glov.(Hemiptera: Aphididae), on cucumber in greenhouses. Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control, 28(1), 1-6.
- Forrester, D. I., & Bauhus, J. (2016). A review of processes behind diversity—productivity relationships in forests. Current Forestry Reports, 2(1), 45-61.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., ... & Bengtsson, J. (2013). Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nature communications, 4(1), 1-8.
- Gardiner, M. M., Landis, D. A., Gratton, C., DiFonzo, C. D., O'neal, M., Chacon, J. M., ... & Heimpel, G. E. (2009). Landscape diversity enhances biological control of an introduced crop pest in the north-central USA. Ecological applications, 19(1), 143-154.

- Garibaldi, L. A., Pérez-Méndez, N., Cordeiro, G. D., Hughes, A., Orr, M., Alves-dos-Santos, I., ... & Viana, B. F. (2021). Negative impacts of dominance on bee communities: Does the influence of invasive honey bees differ from native bees?.
- Gontijo, L. M., Beers, E. H., & Snyder, W. E. (2015). Complementary suppression of aphids by predators and parasitoids. Biological Control, 90, 83-91.
- Gonzalez, A., Rayfield, B., & Lindo, Z. (2011). The disentangled bank: how loss of habitat fragments and disassembles ecological networks. American journal of botany, 98(3), 503-516.
- Hatt, S., Uyttenbroeck, R., Lopes, T., Chen, J. L., Piqueray, J., Monty, A., & Francis, F. (2018). Effect of flower traits and hosts on the abundance of parasitoids in perennial multiple species wildflower strips sown within oilseed rape (Brassica napus) crops. Arthropod-Plant Interactions, 12(6), 787-797.
- Hawro, V., Ceryngier, P., Kowalska, A., & Ulrich, W. (2017). Landscape structure and agricultural intensification are weak predictors of host range and parasitism rate of cereal aphids. Ecological Research, 32(2), 109-115.
- Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Tscharntke, T. (2010). How do landscape composition and configuration, organic farming and fallow strips affect the diversity of bees, wasps and their parasitoids?. Journal of Animal Ecology, 79(2), 491-500.
- Janssen, A., Sabelis, M. W., Magalhães, S., Montserrat, M., & Van Der Hammen, T. (2007). Habitat structure affects intraguild predation. Ecology, 88(11), 2713-2719.
- Karp, D. S., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Meehan, T. D., Martin, E. A., DeClerck, F., Grab, H., ... & Wickens, J. B. (2018). Crop pests and predators exhibit inconsistent responses to surrounding landscape composition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(33), E7863-E7870.
- Kaser, J. M., & Heimpel, G. E. (2018). Impact of the parasitoid Aphelinus certus on soybean aphid populations. Biological Control, 127, 17-24.
- Landis, D., Wratten, S., & Gurr, G. (2000). Habitat Management to Conserve Natural Enemies of Arthropod Pests in Agriculture. Annual Review of Entomology, 45(1), 175-201;
- Landis, D. A. (2017). Designing agricultural landscapes for biodiversity-based ecosystem services. Basic and Applied Ecology, 18, 1-12.
- Lavandero, B., Wratten, S., Shishehbor, P., & Worner, S. (2005). Enhancing the effectiveness of the parasitoid Diadegma semiclausum (Helen): movement after use of nectar in the field. Biological control, 34(2), 152-158.

- Letourneau, D. K., Jedlicka, J. A., Bothwell, S. G., & Moreno, C. R. (2009). Effects of natural enemy biodiversity on the suppression of arthropod herbivores in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 40, 573.
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R., Polaszek, A., Morris, R. J., Craze, P. G., Planqué, R., ... & Memmott, J. (2009). Do differences in food web structure between organic and conventional farms affect the ecosystem service of pest control?. Ecology letters, 12(3), 229-238.
- Macfadyen, S., Craze, P. G., Polaszek, A., van Achterberg, K., & Memmott, J. (2011a). Parasitoid diversity reduces the variability in pest control services across time on farms. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 278(1723), 3387-3394.
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R. H., Symondson, W. O., & Memmott, J. (2011b). Landscape structure influences modularity patterns in farm food webs: consequences for pest control. Ecological Applications, 21(2), 516-524.
- Martin, E. A., Reineking, B., Seo, B., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2013). Natural enemy interactions constrain pest control in complex agricultural landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(14), 5534-5539.
- Martin, E. A., Dainese, M., Clough, Y., Báldi, A., Bommarco, R., Gagic, V., ... & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2019). The interplay of landscape composition and configuration: new pathways to manage functional biodiversity and agroecosystem services across Europe. Ecology letters, 22(7), 1083-1094.
- Novaes, D. R., Sujii, P. S., Rodrigues, C. A., Silva, K. M., Machado, A. F., Inoue-Nagata, A. K., ... & Togni, P. H. (2024). Natural habitat connectivity and organic management modulate pest dispersal, gene flow, and natural enemy communities. Ecological Applications, 34(2), e2938.
- Plećaš, M., Gagić, V., Janković, M., Petrović-Obradović, O., Kavallieratos, N. G., Tomanović, Ž., ... & Ćetković, A. (2014). Landscape composition and configuration influence cereal aphid– parasitoid–hyperparasitoid interactions and biological control differentially across years. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 183, 1-10.
- Post, D. M., Pace, M. L., & Hairston, N. G. (2000). Ecosystem size determines food-chain length in lakes. Nature, 405(6790), 1047-1049.
- Quicke, D. L. (2014). The braconid and ichneumonid parasitoid wasps: biology, systematics, evolution and ecology. John Wiley & Sons.

- Rusch, A., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Gardiner, M. M., Hawro, V., Holland, J., Landis, D., ... & Bommarco,
   R. (2016). Agricultural landscape simplification reduces natural pest control: A quantitative synthesis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 221, 198-204.
- Sabatino, M., Maceira, N., & Aizen, M. A. (2010). Direct effects of habitat area on interaction diversity in pollination webs. Ecological Applications, 20(6), 1491-1497.
- Shields, M. W., Johnson, A. C., Pandey, S., Cullen, R., González-Chang, M., Wratten, S. D., & Gurr, G. M. (2019). History, current situation and challenges for conservation biological control. Biological control, 131, 25-35.
- Straub, C. S., Finke, D. L., & Snyder, W. E. (2008). Are the conservation of natural enemy biodiversity and biological control compatible goals?. Biological control, 45(2), 225-237.
- Thies, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003). Effects of landscape context on herbivory and parasitism at different spatial scales. Oikos, 101, 18-25. 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12567.x;
- Tilman, D., Reich, P. B., Knops, J., Wedin, D., Mielke, T., & Lehman, C. (2001). Diversity and productivity in a long-term grassland experiment. Science, 294(5543), 843-845.
- Tougeron, K., & Tena, A. (2019). Hyperparasitoids as new targets in biological control in a global change context. Biological control, 130, 164-171.
- Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J. M., Rand, T. A., Didham, R. K., Fahrig, L., Batáry, P., ... & Westphal, C. (2012). Landscape moderation of biodiversity patterns and processes-eight hypotheses. Biological reviews, 87(3), 661-685.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A. M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Thies, C. (2005). Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity–ecosystem service management. Ecology letters, 8(8), 857-874.
- Tylianakis, J. M., Didham, R. K., & Wratten, S. D. (2004). Improved fitness of aphid parasitoids receiving resource subsidies. Ecology, 85(3), 658-666.
- Tylianakis, J. M., Tscharntke, T., & Lewis, O. T. (2007). Habitat modification alters the structure of tropical host–parasitoid food webs. Nature, 445(7124), 202-205.
- Venzon, M., Amaral, D. S. S. L., Togni, P. H. B., & Chiguachi, J. A. M. (2019). Interactions of natural enemies with non-cultivated plants. In Natural Enemies of Insect Pests in Neotropical Agroecosystems (pp. 15-26). Springer, Cham.

- Venzon, M., Togni, P. H. B., Sujii, E R . (2021). Controle Biológico Conservativo. In: Parra, J. R. P; Pinto, A. S.; Nava, D. E.; Oliveira, R. C.; Diniza, A. J. F. Controle Biológico com Parasitoides e Predadores na Agricultura Brasileira. 1ed. São Paulo: FEALQ, p. 99-126
- Woltz, J. M., Isaacs, R., & Landis, D. A. (2012). Landscape structure and habitat management differentially influence insect natural enemies in an agricultural landscape. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 152, 40-49.
- Zhu, P., Zheng, X., Xie, G., Chen, G., Lu, Z., & Gurr, G. (2020). Relevance of the ecological traits of parasitoid wasps and nectariferous plants for conservation biological control: a hybrid metaanalysis. Pest management science, 76(5), 1881-1892.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

## Through the green mosaic: different tropical vegetation formations have complementary effects on parasitoid diversity and biological control in organic agroecosystems

\*Manuscript submitted to Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment

#### ABSTRACT

Land use change threaten global biodiversity, impacting ecosystem services, especially in diverse tropical regions. Yet, biodiversity conservation does not guarantee ecosystem service provision, given species' variable responses to local and landscape factors. Here we evaluate how the landscape and local resources affect parasitoid diversity and aphid biological control in a tropical organic crop. Locally, we compared parasitoid communities within the crops and on adjacent non-crop stripes and evaluated the effect of flower resource abundance on parasitoid diversity. At the landscape scale, we analyzed the effect of natural areas and their specific vegetational formations on parasitoid diversity and the scale of these effects. Finally, we evaluated the relationship between biodiversity and biological control. Non-crop plant stripes had higher parasitoid species richness and abundance than the crops, but similar species composition. Flower resource abundance in the non-crop stripes negatively affected parasitoid richness. Natural areas in the landscape benefited parasitoid richness at a close range (0.42 km) and reduced parasitoid abundance at a wider scale (1.75 km). Forests and savannas increased parasitoid richness and reduced abundance, while grasslands drive parasitoid abundance and disrupt species richness. Savannah areas, where trees and grasses coexist boosted the positive effects of forests on species richness and of grasslands on abundance. Parasitoid species richness benefited biological control exclusively in communities with intermediate number of parasitoid species. Our findings show that natural vegetation formations with different wood densities have complementary effects in parasitoid diversity in tropical agroecosystems and represent a useful baseline for development of management and zoning plans.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The global threat to biodiversity due to land use change can directly affect the provision of ecosystem services (Cardinale et al., 2012; Oliver et al., 2015), especially in the tropics where most of the global biodiversity is concentrated (Willig et al., 2003; Jablonski et al., 2006; Ramos et al., 2020; Raven et al., 2020). However, biodiversity conservation does not guarantee the provision of ecosystem services because species may respond differently to local and landscape features (Straub et al., 2008; Letourneau et al., 2009; Forrester & Bauhus, 2016). In fact, the provision of biological control services by natural enemies has shown inconsistent responses to the presence of natural habitats in the landscape (Plećaš et al., 2014; Rusch et al., 2016; Karp et al., 2018). Differences in plant composition between these natural areas can be responsible for these responses, since natural enemies usually respond differently to environments with different wood densities (Fonseca et al., 2005; Togni et al., 2021). Still, habitat structure and local resources influence permeability by dictating attraction, colonization, and retention of natural enemy species (Landis, 2017; Togni et al., 2019b; Harterreiten-Souza et al., 2021). Thus, a multiscale approach is crucial for understanding how local and landscape features influence biological control services (Tscharntke et al., 2005, 2021).

Each habitat within a landscape provides distinct resources and conditions for natural enemies, which influence how species use and explore them (Fahrig et al., 2011). In this sense, the functional role of different habitats within the landscape is expected to affect the provision of biological control on crop habitats (Fahrig et al., 2011; Begg et al., 2017). Landscapes with higher functional heterogeneity that show different vegetational formations like forests, savannas, and grasslands, possibly have a more diverse pool of species able to colonize distinct habitat types due to a higher variety of resources, conditions, and pressures (Nyman, 2010). However, most of the knowledge on the relationship between landscape, biodiversity and ecosystem services are produced on temperate regions (Clarke et al., 2017). Tropical regions usually have higher landscape complexity and taxonomic diversity than temperate regions, which means that different patterns of complementarity and redundancy effects may arise (Cardoso et al., 2011; Monge-González et al., 2021). In this sense, it is essential to understand the importance of specific vegetational formations to the effect of natural area on tropical natural enemies and their services.

At the landscape scale, natural areas adjacent to crop fields can act as reservoirs of the pool of natural enemy species able to colonize the crops (Thies et al., 2003; Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011, 2013; Rusch et al., 2016). However, the spillover from the natural areas to the crops depend on habitat permeability at the local scale and can be facilitated by reducing habitat disturbance (i.e., insecticide spraying) and increasing the provision of resources (alternative and supplementary) to natural enemies

(Amaral et al., 2013; Rezende et al., 2014; Snyder, 2019; Harterreiten-Souza et al., 2021; Blassioli-Moraes et al., 2022). Organic agriculture, for example, is known to benefit biodiversity by restricting the use of chemical pesticides and increasing plant diversity (Bengtsson et al., 2005; Garratt et al., 2011; Togni et al., 2019a; Venzon, 2021). Such benefits can be increased by maintaining non-crop plant stripes nearby the crops to increase the provision of supplementary plant-provided food (e.g., pollen and nectar) and alternative prey for natural enemies (Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Amaral et al., 2013; Hatt et al., 2018; Venzon et al., 2019). Combined, these two management strategies are expected to increase natural enemy diversity and biological control in agricultural systems and contribute to understand the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem services on tropical areas (Macfadyen et al., 2009; Clarke et al., 2017).

Parasitoid wasps (Hymenoptera) are well-known natural enemies of agricultural pests (Thies et al., 2003; Plećaš et al., 2014; Gontijo et al., 2015). Some studies suggest higher landscape complexity boosts parasitism and diminishes herbivory (Thies et al., 2003), while others show no impact on parasitoid diversity or pest-parasitoid interactions (Macfadyen et al., 2009; Plećaš et al., 2014; Hawro et al., 2017). Parasitoids are constantly foraging for hosts and food (Tentelier et al., 2006), so their spillover from natural to agricultural areas should be mediated by their combination. In this sense, parasitoids respond well to the management of non-crop plants at a local scale, which provide alternative hosts and floral resources, on which the adult parasitoids feed (Lavandero et al., 2005; Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Hatt et al., 2018). Parasitoid diversity, which can benefit biological control and its stability, has been shown to respond positively to higher flower availability in non-crop habitats (Macfadyen et al 2011; González et al., 2022). Since agricultural fields usually have high host availability but little flower resource, non-crop plants may provide the necessary resources and conditions for an increased spillover.

We seek to understand how landscape features interact with local non-crop plant stripes to mediate parasitoid diversity and aphid biological control in tropical organic Brassicaceae crops. Specifically, we asked the following questions: i) How local non-crop plant floral resources interact with the landscape in mediating crop colonization by parasitoids. ii) How and in which scale natural areas in the landscape affect parasitoid diversity in organic crop fields? iii) How specific vegetational formations contribute to the effect of natural areas on parasitoids? iv) How the relationship between parasitoid diversity and their provision of biological control is affected by these multiscale factors? We predict that more natural landscapes will provide a larger pool of species, while a greater abundance of local resources provided by non-crop plant stripes will increase habitat permeability to

these species. Therefore, we expect that local and landscape features benefiting parasitoid diversity will culminate in more effective biological control.

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### Study area

This study was performed from August to October 2022 and 2023 in 25 organic farms cropping collards (*Brassica oleracea*, Brassicaceae) in the Brazilian Federal District (15°47' S, 47°56' W, 1000m above the sea level). The region is in the core of the Cerrado biome, the Brazilian tropical savanna, one of the 25 most important terrestrial biodiversity hotspots (Myers et al., 2000). The Cerrado is the second largest Brazilian biome (2 million km<sup>2</sup>) and 52,9% of its area is currently used for agricultural activities (Sano et al., 2019). The native vegetation of the biome is mostly within private properties and is formed by different plant physiognomies ranging from forest and savanna formations to grasslands (Ribeiro & Walter, 2008; De Marco et al., 2023), being potential reservoirs for beneficial insects like parasitoids.

The sampled farms were distributed within a land use gradient varying between areas dominated by large-scale monocultures to areas composed mostly by fragments of native vegetation. The farms belonged to small farmers (4 – 70 ha) and were certified as organic for at least 5 years (Brazil, 2003, 2007). Bt-based products (*Bacillus thurigiensis*), *Beauveria bassiana*, regular augmentative releases of *Trichogramma pretiosum* (Riley) (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae) and different types of plant extracts were used for pest management according to Brazilian legislation (Togni et al., 2019c). Besides the input restrictions, the farmers usually use management practices to increase beneficial insect biodiversity in their fields, commonly maintaining strips of spontaneous non-crop vegetation nearby or among brassica crops (Assunção et al., 2022). The tropical savanna climate, with a dry winter and a hot and humid summer (da Silva et al., 2008; Alvares et al., 2013), forces farmers to grow collards during winter to avoid rainfall damage. Therefore, we conducted this study in the driest months of the dry season when aphids and parasitoids are abundant in organic brassica fields. The water supply for crops was provided by irrigation with sprinklers.

#### Landscape characterization

The characterization of the landscapes surrounding the fields was performed using satellite images from the land cover and use from the MapBiomas collections 7 and 8 (Souza Jr. et al., 2020). These collections use 30 m x 30 m pixels to differentiate more than 25 land cover types in the landscape. We reclassified the land cover types into eight groups based on the distinct functional responses of parasitoids to these land cover types (Fonseca et al., 2005) as follows: 1) Forests, 2) Savannas, 3) Natural Grasslands, 4) Pastures, 5) Urban areas, 6) Water bodies, 7) Soybean monocultures, 8) Other agricultural fields. The extent of the buffers used for landscape characterization was selected using the 'Scalescape' R package which avoids problems related with a priori extent and multiple-buffer methods for selecting the extent of the characterized landscape (Lowe et al., 2022).

#### Local resource sampling

In each farm, we measured the floral abundance in the non-crop stripes to estimate the abundance of floral resources available for parasitoids. To do this, we randomly selected ten points in the stripes of non-crop plants from 5 to 25 m distant from the crop. Each sampling point was at least 5 m apart from each other. In each sampling point, a 1 m<sup>2</sup> quadrat was stablished and photographed using a Canon EOS Rebel T6 digital camera. We positioned ourselves aside the quadrants avoiding shadowing the vegetation, positioned the camera at 1.5 m height at the center of the quadrant and took two photographs. The clearest image of each quadrant was divided using Inkscape software into units of 1 cm<sup>2</sup>, each unit containing a flower receptacle was considered a floral unit as suggested by Carvalheiro et al. (2014), so that flowers of different sizes could have their resource abundances properly cataloged. Therefore, the abundance of flower resource was calculated as the average number of floral units per quadrat.

#### Parasitoid sampling

To sample parasitoid diversity, 18 200 ml pan traps were distributed in each farm, within the crop and the non-crop plant stripes. The sampling points were distributed along the crop and stripes at least 25 m from each other, and 5 m apart from the edges of the crop fields and non-crop plant stripes. In each point (replicates), the three traps (pseudo replicates) were placed 5 m apart, forming a triangle around the sampling point. This design was selected to reduce the chance of sample loss and to increase attractiveness of the sampling points. The pan traps were filled with 200 ml of a solution with 50%

water, 30% etilenoglicol and 20% alcohol. The traps were colored with UV reflecting yellow spray acrylic paint to increase parasitoid attraction (Hatt et al., 2018). The traps were installed 1.20 m above ground crops to increase the chances of collecting foraging parasitoids above the non-crop and crop plants (Chan-Canché et al., 2020). The traps were supported by perforated steel bands tied to plastic stakes. They were kept in the field for five days, after which the material was taken to the laboratory for sorting and identification. The sampled parasitoids were identified to the family level using Goulet & Huber (1993) and separated into morphospecies. Samples of each point were poll together to avoid pseudo replications.

#### **Biological control experiment**

To estimate biological control services in each farm, an exclusion experiment was conducted based on Gardiner at al. (2009). In each farm, 30 brassica plants were randomly selected and subjected to the following treatments: 1) exclusion bags (natural enemies had no access); 2) open leaf marked with a colored ribbon (allowing natural enemy access). Therefore, each treatment was composed of a plant with a bagged leaf paired with an open leaf. Using this procedure, we avoided differences between the treatments that could be attributed to factors such as plant physiology. The exclusion bags (30 x 20 cm) were made of voil fabric, allowing only light and air to pass through. When setting up the experiment, all organisms other than aphids were removed from the leaves. The number of apterous, winged, and parasitized aphids was counted on each treatment. When necessary, the aphids were removed so that the number was similar in both leaves. The leaves used for this experiment had, between 10 and 100 aphids, depending on the aphid infestation in each farm. After five days, the number of apterous, winged, and parasitized aphids on these leaves were counted again. We then calculated the biological control service index (BSI) proposed by Gardiner et al. (2009), which is an estimate of average biological control per farm.

$$BSI = \frac{\sum_{p=1}^{4} \frac{(A_{c,p} - A_{o,p})}{A_{c,p}}}{n}$$
(1)

where,  $A_{c,p}$  is the number of aphids found in the closed leaf at the end of the experiment,  $A_{o,p}$  is the number of aphids found on the open leaf and *n* is the number of plants used in the experiment.

#### Data analysis

To analyze the differences between the communities of parasitoids inside the crop fields and in the non-crop plant stripes, we began with an individual based rarefaction analysis using the 'iNext' R package (Hsieh et al., 2016). To further understand how the abundances were distributed, we fitted species abundance distribution (SAD) models to each habitat using the 'sads' R package (Prado et al., 2024). We fitted four SAD models: i) Power law, ii) Poisson log-normal, iii) Log series, and iv) Broken stick, which were than compared through likelihood and Akaike information criterion (AIC) values. Berger-Parker dominance index (D) and Pielou equitability index (J) were calculated to support SAD predictions.

The dissimilarity in the species composition between habitats was initially analyzed with a Permutational Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) and a Similarity Percentage Analysis (SIMPER), to identify which taxa are primarily responsible for the difference between habitat types. The Non-Metric Multidimensional Scaling (nMDS) followed by permutational fit of richness and abundance vectors to analyze the contribution of these variables to the dissimilarity within and between farms. The SIMPER and nMDS analysis were based on Bray-Curtis distance matrices. These procedures were conducted using the 'vegan' R package (Oksanen et al., 2007).

To analyze the effect of multiscale factors on parasitoid species richness and abundance, we used the 'Scalescape' R package, which estimates distance-weighted landscape effects on a response variable based on a previous local model (Lowe et al., 2022). The local models consisted of generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs), on the effect of floral resource abundance on parasitoid species richness and abundance, with the sampling year as random variable. Models with different error distributions were tested and compared based on AIC values. For the landscape model, 'Scalescape' identifies: i) the buffer range that improves model fit, ii) the weight loss of landscape predictors as the distance increases and, iii) the direction and magnitude of the landscape effect. Two landscape GLMMs were built for each response variable starting from the local models and differing on the included landscape predictors. In the first, the landscape predictor was total natural area, while in the second we decomposed natural area into specific vegetational formations (forests, savannas, grasslands). In all the landscape models, agricultural area was included as a covariate. The models with the specific vegetational formations as predictors was submitted to a hierarchical partitioning analysis to estimate their relative importance to parasitoid species richness and abundance. This procedure was conducted using the 'glmm.hp' R package (Lai et al., 2022).

Finally, to estimate the biodiversity-ecosystem service relationship (BES), we used segmented regressions, with parasitoid species richness and abundance as predictors and biological control service index (BSI) as response. The segmented regression allowed us to identify different BES for communities within a gradient from low to high parasitoid richness and abundance. This procedure enables us to understand the responses to increasing parasitoid diversity in farms with different parasitoid species richness and abundance. The correlation between parasitoid species richness and abundance was tested to help interpret BES results.

#### RESULTS

#### Parasitoid communities in the crop and non-crop habitats

We sampled 1950 hymenopteran parasitoids classified into 314 (morpho) species within 32 families (Tab. 1). Crops presented 717 individuals from 173 species and the non-crop plant stripes 1233 individuals of 239 species. The mean abundance was  $78.0 \pm 15.1$  individuals/farm ( $\pm$  SE) and the mean species richness was  $26.2 \pm 4.6$  species/farm. The five most abundant families represent 78.7% of the total abundance, which were Pteromalidae (811 individuals), Figitidae (258), Encyrtidae (224), Diapriidae (157), and Braconidae (86). The families with higher species richness were Diapriidae (40 species), Braconidae (38), Encyrtidae (31), Mymaridae (28), and Pteromalidae (23).

| Table 1 – Hymenop   | teran parasitoid | families, | their | richness | and | abundance | in | the | different | habitats |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------|-------|----------|-----|-----------|----|-----|-----------|----------|
| sampled in Brassica | organic fields.  |           |       |          |     |           |    |     |           |          |

| Family       | Richness | Abundance   |                  |       |
|--------------|----------|-------------|------------------|-------|
|              |          | Crop fields | Non-crop stripes | Total |
| Diapriidae   | 40       | 68          | 89               | 157   |
| Braconidae   | 38       | 33          | 53               | 86    |
| Encyrtidae   | 31       | 45          | 179              | 224   |
| Mymaridae    | 28       | 20          | 41               | 61    |
| Pteromalidae | 23       | 278         | 533              | 811   |
| Scelionidae  | 21       | 13          | 46               | 59    |
| Figitidae    | 21       | 146         | 114              | 260   |

| Eulophidae        | 16 | 12 | 15 | 27 |
|-------------------|----|----|----|----|
| Ichneumonidae     | 11 | 4  | 17 | 21 |
| Tetracampidae     | 11 | 5  | 13 | 18 |
| Torymidae         | 11 | 31 | 8  | 39 |
| Platygastridae    | 10 | 5  | 15 | 20 |
| Bethylidae        | 9  | 11 | 15 | 26 |
| Ceraphronidae     | 8  | 13 | 22 | 35 |
| Aphelinidae       | 7  | 11 | 14 | 25 |
| Signiphoridae     | 6  | 4  | 3  | 7  |
| Eupelmidae        | 5  | 2  | 14 | 16 |
| Dryinidae         | 4  | 1  | 4  | 5  |
| Trichogrammatidae | 4  | 3  | 4  | 7  |
| Chrisydidae       | 3  | 2  | 1  | 3  |
| Elasmidae         | 3  | 4  | 4  | 8  |
| Megaspilidae      | 3  | 2  | 11 | 13 |
| Tanaostigmatidae  | 3  | 1  | 2  | 3  |
| Chalcididae       | 2  | 0  | 4  | 4  |
| Evaniidae         | 2  | 0  | 8  | 8  |
| Proctotrupidae    | 2  | 1  | 3  | 4  |
| Agaonidae         | 1  | 1  | 1  | 2  |
| Perilampidae      | 1  | 1  | 0  | 1  |

Although the estimated number of species in the crop fields was lower (Chao 1 = 366 species), than in the non-crop plant stripes (Chao 1 = 518 species), the individual-based rarefaction curves did not show any difference in species richness in both habitats (crop fields S = 173; non-crop plant stripes S = 239). The parasitoid communities were formed by many rare and a few abundant species. The

species abundance distribution in both habitats fitted to a Power Law model (Tab. 2). The lower  $\alpha$  values found in the crop fields indicates a steeper decline in abundance with increasing abundance rank, although dominance (Crop D = 0.38 ± 0.04; Non-crop D = 0.32 ± 0.03) and equitability (Crop J = 0.83 ± 0.04; Non-crop J= 0.84 ± 0.03 [± SE]) were similar in both habitats (Fig. 1).

|                  |                   | Log-       |        | dLog-      |        |                     |
|------------------|-------------------|------------|--------|------------|--------|---------------------|
|                  |                   | likelihood | AIC    | likelihood | dAIC   | Weight              |
| Crop Fields      |                   |            |        |            |        |                     |
|                  | Power law         | -274.83    | 551.65 | 150        | 0      | 0.75                |
|                  | Poisson lognormal | -274.92    | 553.85 | 149.9      | 2.19   | 0.25                |
|                  | Log series        | -314.03    | 630.06 | 110.8      | 78.41  | < 10 <sup>-15</sup> |
|                  | Broken stick      | -424.83    | 849.65 | 0          | 298    | < 10 <sup>-65</sup> |
| Non-crop stripes |                   |            |        |            |        |                     |
|                  | Power law         | -414.58    | 831.16 | 205.27     | 0      | 0.7                 |
|                  | Poisson lognormal | -414.41    | 832.83 | 205.44     | 1.67   | 0.3                 |
|                  | Log series        | -464.55    | 931.1  | 155.3      | 99.94  | < 10 <sup>-20</sup> |
|                  | Broken stick      | -619.85    | 1239.7 | 0          | 408.54 | < 10 <sup>-80</sup> |

Table 2 - Log-likelihood and Akaike Information Index (AIC) comparison between species abundance distribution models for crop fields and non-crop stripes.



Figure 1 – Hymenopteran parasitoids species abundance distribution models (SADs) for crop fields (A) and non-crop plant stripes (B) in organic farms in the Brazilian Federal District. For each habitat, are shown the power law model fitted to Preston abundance octaves (left plot) the log-likelihood profiles for relative (top right) and z transformed (bottom right) likelihood of the  $\alpha$  coefficient. *S* 

represents the number of species and *n* the number of individuals. The likelihood profiles are shown to provide background for the comparison of the  $\alpha$  coefficients between habitats. In them the red lines represent likelihood thresholds (the -2 loglikelihood threshold in top plot and the probability of the coefficient lying with these thresholds based on standard deviation in the bottom plot).

The PERMANOVA showed that crop fields have similar species composition to the non-crop plant stripes ( $R^2 = 0.009$ ; d.f. = 1, 138; F = 1.307; p = 0.0970) with an overall average similarity of 91.91%, according to the SIMPER analysis using the Bray-Curtis index (Tab. 3). Species richness was responsible for 64% of the explained differences in species composition ( $R^2 = 0.34$ ; p = 0.0010) between farms while abundance accounted for 36% of such differences ( $R^2 = 0.19$ ; p = 0.0130) (Fig. 2).

|               | Average       |                  |                | Mean   | Mean     |
|---------------|---------------|------------------|----------------|--------|----------|
| Species       | dissimilarity | Contribution (%) | Cumulative (%) | Crop   | Non-crop |
| Pteromalidae2 | 14.83         | 16.13            | 16.13          | 1.94   | 3.09     |
| Pteromalidae1 | 7.752         | 8.434            | 24.56          | 0.971  | 1.6      |
| Pteromalidae3 | 6.18          | 6.724            | 31.29          | 0.486  | 1.47     |
| Figitidae2    | 5.973         | 6.499            | 37.79          | 1.47   | 0.971    |
| Encyrtidae4   | 2.442         | 2.656            | 40.44          | 0.243  | 1.06     |
| Pteromalidae6 | 2.204         | 2.398            | 42.84          | 0.143  | 0.414    |
| Diapriidae1   | 1.348         | 1.467            | 44.31          | 0.0571 | 0.243    |
| Scelionidae2  | 1.162         | 1.264            | 45.57          | 0.0286 | 0.186    |
| Figitidae1    | 0.9889        | 1.076            | 46.65          | 0.143  | 0.186    |

Table 3 – Species contribution to dissimilarity calculated with SIMPER analysis (until 60% cumulative dissimilarity).

| Pteromalidae19 | 0.9225 | 1.004  | 47.65 | 0.0143 | 0.186  |
|----------------|--------|--------|-------|--------|--------|
| Ceraphronidae2 | 0.9048 | 0.9844 | 48.64 | 0.0714 | 0.0714 |
| Diapriidae6    | 0.8933 | 0.9719 | 49.61 | 0.271  | 0.0714 |
| Mymaridae1     | 0.8886 | 0.9668 | 50.57 | 0.0143 | 0.143  |
| Bethylidae2    | 0.8781 | 0.9554 | 51.53 | 0.0857 | 0.0857 |
| Encyrtidae18   | 0.8184 | 0.8904 | 52.42 | 0      | 0.643  |
| Ceraphronidae1 | 0.7873 | 0.8566 | 53.28 | 0.0429 | 0.143  |
| Pteromalidae14 | 0.7839 | 0.8529 | 54.13 | 0.0286 | 0.157  |
| Diapriidae18   | 0.7659 | 0.8332 | 54.96 | 0.0571 | 0.257  |
| Torymidae6     | 0.723  | 0.7866 | 55.75 | 0.2    | 0.0143 |
| Pteromalidae10 | 0.7085 | 0.7709 | 56.52 | 0.1    | 0.114  |
| Diapriidae8    | 0.7063 | 0.7684 | 57.29 | 0.1    | 0.0857 |
| Megaspilidae3  | 0.6956 | 0.7568 | 58.05 | 0.0286 | 0.1    |
| Aphelinidae3   | 0.6719 | 0.731  | 58.78 | 0.0714 | 0.1    |
| Figitidae3     | 0.6095 | 0.6631 | 59.44 | 0.129  | 0.0429 |
| Encyrtidae3    | 0.5865 | 0.6381 | 60.08 | 0      | 0.143  |
| Encyrtidae10   | 0.5814 | 0.6325 | 60.71 | 0.1    | 0.129  |



Figure 2 – Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) of the parasitoid community composition in brassica crops (crop fields) and in the non-crop plant stripes in organic farms in the Brazilian Federal District (stress = 0.18). Arrows represent abundance and richness fitted vectors, which explained 52% of the variation in the species composition between habitats.

#### Multiscale factors affecting parasitoid communities

Local floral resource abundance (floral units) showed a significant slightly negative effect on parasitoid species richness ( $\beta$  = -0.0015; F = 9.201; d.f. = 1, 22; p = 0.0026) in the farms (Fig. 3), but no effects on parasitoid abundance ( $\beta$  = 0.0003; F = 1.306; d.f. = 1, 22; p = 0.2734). At the landscape scale, the effects of natural areas diverged between species richness and abundance (Fig. 4). The multiscale model explained 50% of the variation in parasitoid species richness, with a positive effect of natural areas in parasitoid richness ( $\beta$  = -6.010; F = 21.690; d.f. = 1, 16; p < 0.0001) (Fig. 4A). Natural areas positively affected parasitoid richness until a 1 km radius from the crop area, but the strongest effect was observed at a 0.42 km radius. In terms of parasitoid abundance, the multiscale model explained 47% of the deviation. Natural areas in the landscape negatively affected parasitoid abundance ( $\beta$  = -7.970; F = 265. 300; d.f. = 1, 16; p < 0.001) (Fig. 4B). The effect on abundance

happened until 5 km from the crop area but the strongest effect was observed at a 1.75 km radius buffer (Fig. 4B).



Figure 3 – Poisson generalized linear mixed-effects model on the relationship between floral resource abundance (floral units) on the non-crop plant stripes and parasitoid species richness in Brassica organic crops in the Brazilian Federal District.



Figure 4 – Relationships between the percentage of natural areas in the landscape (landscape composition) and parasitoid species richness (A) and abundance (B). For each response variable were calculated: the ideal buffer radius to improve model fit (left plot), the natural area weight loss with distance from farm (center plot) and the effect of natural areas on the response variable within the buffer that improves model fit (right plot) according to a generalized mixed-effects model. In the center plots, the red dashed lines represent the range parameter value. While in the right plot the red dashed lines represent the 95% confidence intervals.

When assessing the role of each natural vegetation formation in the landscape, the interaction between forests and savannas positively affected species richness ( $\beta = 129.612$ ; F = 6.130; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.0066), where the higher percentages of savanna formations in the landscape boost the positive effects of forests (Fig. 5A). Nevertheless, the independent effects of forests and savannas on parasitoid species richness were not significant (forest:  $\beta = -31.532$ ; F = 0.456; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.4562; savanna:  $\beta = -9.446$ ; F = 0.120; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.4615). Grasslands had a negative effect on species richness
$(\beta = -7.573; F = 3.964; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.0403)$  and its interaction with savannas was not statistically significant although savanna environments can reverse the negative effects of grassland on parasitoid species richness ( $\beta = 13.5678; F = 2.79; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.0840$ ) (Fig. 5A). Grasslands were the most important component for species richness (27.67%), but the grouping of forests, savannas and their interaction summed more that 50% of the relative importance to species richness (Fig. 6A).



Figure 5 – Effects of the significant components of the specific vegetational formation GLMM on parasitoid species richness (A) and abundance (B) in organic crop farms from the Brazilian savanna. The effect of the interaction between grasslands and savannas on parasitoid richness was not statistically significant, but probably biologically important (p = 0.0840).

Parasitoid abundance was negatively affected by savannas ( $\beta = -15.157$ ; F = 143.800; d.f. = 1, 16; p < 0.0001) (Fig. 5B). The interaction between grassland and forests ( $\beta = -217.909$ ; F = 40.446;

d.f. = 1, 16; p < 0.0001) and grasslands and savannas ( $\beta$  = 64.756; F = 182.451; d.f. = 1, 16; p < 0.0001) also had a significant effect in abundance. Grasslands tend to have a positive effect on parasitoid abundance, but this effect is highly dependent on savanna environments, while forests can lower the magnitude of these effects (Fig. 5B). Forests and grasslands did not independently affect parasitoid abundance (Forests:  $\beta$  = 25.892; F = 0.854; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.2984. Grasslands:  $\beta$  = 4.211; F = 54.503; d.f. = 1, 16; p = 0.4531). The relative importance analysis show that savannas and their interaction with the other two formations comprise over 65% of the relative importance to parasitoid abundance (Fig. 6B).



Figure 6 – Relative importance of natural vegetation formations and their interactions to parasitoid species richness (A) and abundance (B) GLMMs. Terms containing ":" indicate interactions between the landscape components. The \* above the bars indicate the significant predictors from the GLMMs.

Biological control response to parasitoid species richness showed divergent results between communities with low, intermediate, and high species richness (Fig. 7). The segmented regression explained 37% of the variation in biological control. The first breaking point was fixed at 31.00, while the second breaking point was estimated to be  $58.74 \pm 11.86$  ( $\pm$  SE). For communities with less parasitoid species, increasing diversity showed a detrimental effect ( $\beta$  = -0.025; F = 6.657; d.f. = 1, 19; p = 0.0183). When the community reaches 31 species, increasing parasitoid species richness generates a steep increase in biological control, until around 58 species ( $\beta$  = 0.038; F = 7.703; d.f. = 1, 19; p = 0.0120), when redundancy is reached and biological control stabilizes ( $\beta$  = -0.010; F = 5.674; d.f. = 1, 19; p = 0.0278). We did not find any significative effect of parasitoid abundance on aphid biological control (Tab. 4), although parasitoid richness and abundance were highly correlated (r = 0.711; d.f. = 22; p < 0.0001).



Figure 7 – Segmented regression on the relationship between Parasitoid species richness and biological control in organic farms cropping brassicas in the Brazilian Federal District. The black lines represent the segmented regression model and the red line represent the moving average, which is presented to avoid misinterpretation of segments with fewer points.

| Segment                             | Estimate | Sum Sq   | F value  | Df    | Р        |
|-------------------------------------|----------|----------|----------|-------|----------|
| Before 1st breaking point           | -0.0125  | 0.125173 | 0.899112 | 1, 18 | 0.355578 |
| Between 1st and 2nd breaking points | 0.01671  | 0.217753 | 1.564109 | 1, 18 | 0.227078 |
| After 2nd breaking point            | -0.01942 | 0.090569 | 0.650554 | 1, 18 | 0.430443 |

Table 4 - Segmented regression results for the realtioship between parasitoid abundance and biological control.

#### DISCUSSION

We showed that landscape context may be more important than local non-crop plant resources in benefitting parasitoids and related biological control services in tropical organic farms. Higher abundances of local floral resources may be detrimental for parasitoid richness most likely increasing negative interactions with hyperparasitoids, but these habitats were naturally diverse, and their functional redundancy may sustain service provision (Oliver et al., 2015). Parasitoid abundance and species richness are affected by distinct natural vegetation formations and by different spatial scales because natural components of landscapes are functionally complementary (Biggs et al., 2020). Forest and savanna areas adjacent to the crop fields (0.42 km) increased parasitoid richness, while grasslands at broader spatial scales ( $\geq 1.75$  km) drive parasitoid abundance. Such complex and interdependent interactions of landscape composition on parasitoid communities influenced biological control services. Biological control was positively affected by parasitoid richness only in communities with intermediate number of parasitoid species.

Tropical organic collard crops using non-crop plant stripes can sustain a high diversity of parasitoid species within the farm, but communities are dominated by families that include hyperparasitoids of aphidophagous parasitoids (Pteromalidae, Figitidae and Encyrtidae). Such diverse communities can sustain parasitoids of different pests because species with different functional traits may coexist locally (Roxburgh et al., 2004). However, our results indicate that antagonistic interactions between parasitoids and hyperparasitoids may arise frequently, which can disrupt complex trophic networks by excluding important biological control agents (Duffy et al., 2007; Ji & Wang, 2022). In this context, it is essential to comprehend the interactions between parasitoids and their hosts in order to develop appropriate plans to manage them.

The similarities in species composition and richness between crop and non-crop areas indicates that the parasitoids are constantly foraging between and within both habitats. The non-crop plant stripes may retain parasitoid species when harvest occurs and promote a rapid colonization when a new crop cycle starts (Obanyi et al., 2024). However, the abundance of floral resource on the non-crop plant stripes had a negative effect on parasitoid richness. This highlights the importance of managing the functional diversity of the non-crop plants to parasitoids, since their resources must be appropriate to the natural enemies' requirements (Blassioli-Moraes et al., 2022). Nectar suitability and accessibility, for example, plays an important role in parasitoid maintenance and may diverge between plant species (Wäckers, 2004; Calderón-Arroyo et al., 2023). Moreover, parasitoids depend on hosts for oviposition, resource that is usually more abundant in the crop fields. In this sense, analyzing the tri-trophic networks, in which the plants that sustain host-parasitoid interactions are identified, can indicate the beneficial plants that should be prioritized in management plans (Venzon et al., 2019).

At the landscape scale natural areas can be sources of parasitoid species for organic crops. The most prominent effect of natural areas in species richness in the crops occur at more restricted spatial scales (0.42 km) because parasitoid foraging behavior is more conditioned to the availability of hosts for their progeny, favoring spillover effects from natural vegetation to the crops (Tscharntke et al., 2005; Rand et al., 2006; Evans, 2018). Therefore, habitat interfaces can favor natural enemy activity with natural habitats sustaining natural enemy populations readily available for crop colonization (Togni et al., 2019a; Harterreiten-Souza et al., 2021). Adjacent natural areas can act as sources of parasitoid species able to colonize agricultural fields, but their abundances depend highly on the abundance of hosts (May et al., 1981; Thies et al., 2005; Macfadyen et al., 2011). Since natural areas can act as barriers for pests, which can disperse for longer distances and in higher abundances than natural enemies (Corbett & Rosenheim, 1996; Castro et al., 2023; Novaes et al., 2023), the effects on parasitoid abundances should operate at wider scales (1.75 km) than on species richness. Such effects show that in order to increase beneficial insects, maintaining natural vegetation inside private lands should be economically and politically encouraged (Belcher et al., 2003; Metzger et al., 2019; Novaes et al., 2023).

However, not all natural vegetation formations at the landscape scale have the same effects on parasitoid communities. Beneficial effects rely mostly on the structural complexity and diversity of vegetation formations which in turn affect their functional roles for parasitoids (Fahrig et. al, 2011; Concepcion et al., 2012; Begg et al., 2017). Parasitoid species richness has been positively correlated with wood density, while abundance showed a negative relationship with it (Fonseca et al., 2005). Forests usually have higher insect species richness, probably favoring the coexistence of multiple

parasitoid species, while grasslands provide more plant-provided food for adult individuals (Crist & Peters, 2014; Baude et al., 2016). In savanna environments, the coexistence of trees and grasses boost the positive effects of forests and grasslands on parasitoid species richness and abundance, respectively. Our results show that part of the inconsistencies in natural enemies' response to landscape context (Karp et al., 2018) may be related to the different roles that each natural vegetation formation within the landscape may have in natural enemy richness and abundance in tropical agroecosystems. This can be especially important for non-forested tropical biomes, which have high compositional and configurational diversity.

The biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships were also influenced by these multiscale features, revealing distinct patterns on parasitoid communities with low, intermediate, and high species richness of parasitoid species. Communities with fewer species tend to have its services concentrated on a few keystone species (Longland & Ostoja, 2013). This makes them more susceptible to disruption by increasing complexity and antagonistic interactions (Aizen et al., 2008; Martin et al., 2013; Qian & Akçay, 2020). At an intermediate species richness level, a positive biodiversity-ecosystem service relationship is observed indicating the arising of complementarity patterns (Snyder, 2019). Since species that come from adjacent natural areas have alternative resources beyond the ones shared by the species present only in the crop fields, niche overlap is reduced increasing coexistence and complementarity in resource use (Pastore et al., 2021). Additionally, farm management also has influence on these complementarity patterns and their effects on the ecosystem services (Togni et al., 2019a). At last, redundancy patterns arise for communities with high species richness, what plays an important role on biological control stability (Macfadyen et al., 2011). In this sense, biodiversityecosystem service relationships are unlikely to be linear in tropical regions, as the number of species varies greatly between sites and specific local management and landscape contexts need to be considered.

# CONCLUSIONS

In summary, we show that non-crop plant stripes can shelter a high diversity of parasitoids for organic tropical crops, increasing the permeability of the crop fields and possibly sustaining their populations when the main crop is absent. However, these plant stripes need to be managed according to the suitability and availability of their floral resources to the target biological control agent. In addition, we show that natural areas within 420 m are the sources of these parasitoid species, although its different vegetation formations play different and complementary functional roles for biodiversity and related ecosystem services. These results can subsidize the management of tropical landscapes

based on the functional role of its habitats for agro-ecosystems services. Our study also contributes to the knowledge on the relationship between biodiversity and biological control in tropical agro-ecosystems, which are more diverse than in temperate regions, raising the complexity of interference, complementarity, and redundancy patterns. In this sense, we show that this relationship is not always linear and can depend directly on interactions with the landscape. Therefore, the management of tropical natural areas combined with more biodiversity-friendly farming practices, can help to reconcile sustainable agricultural production with the conservation of remnants of native vegetation in priority environments (e.g. hotspots).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to "Empresa de Assistência Técnica e Extensão Rural do Distrito Federal (EMATER-DF)" for mediating the first contact with farmers. We acknowledge Isabelle E. G. da Silva, Ana Beatriz J. Cirino, and Jônatas B. Santos for their assistance in the field collections and in the laboratory. This study was supported by research grants and fellowships provided by the "Coordenação de Pessoal de Nível Superior" (grant number 001); "Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico" (grant number 405396/2021-0); and "Fundação de Apoio a Pesquisa do Distrito Federal" (grant number 00193-00001013/2021-82). RAL is a CNPq fellow.

#### REFERENCES

- Aizen, M.A., Morales, C.L., Morales, J.M., 2008. Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. PLoS Biol. 6, e31. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060031.
- Amaral, D.S., Venzon, M., Duarte, M.V., Sousa, F.F., Pallini, A., Harwood, J.D., 2013. Non-crop vegetation associated with chili pepper agroecosystems promote the abundance and survival of aphid predators. Biol. Control 64, 338–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2012.12.006.
- Assunção, R.M., Camargo, N.F., Souza, L.S., Rocha, E.M., Tostes, G.M., Sujii, E.R., Pires, C.S.S., Togni, P. H., 2022. Landscape conservation and local interactions with non-crop plants aid in structuring bee assemblages in organic tropical agroecosystems. J. Insect Conserv. 26, 933– 945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-022-00438-8.

- Baude, M., Kunin, W.E., Boatman, N.D., Conyers, S., Davies, N., Gillespie, M.A., Morton, R.D., Smart, S.M., Memmott, J., 2016. Historical nectar assessment reveals the fall and rise of floral resources in Britain. Nature 530, 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16532.
- Begg, G.S., Cook, S.M., Dye, R., Ferrante, M., Franck, P., Lavigne, C., Lövei, G.L., Mansion-Vaquie, A., Pell, J.K., Petit, S., Quesada, N., Ricci, B., Wratten, S.D, Birch, A. N. E., 2017. A functional overview of conservation biological control. Crop Prot. 97, 145–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2016.11.008.
- Belcher, K., Boehm, M., Fulton, M., 2003. An agroecosystem scale evaluation of the sustainability implications of carbon tax and carbon credit policies. J. Sustain. Agric. 22, 75–97. https://doi.org/10.1300/J064v22n02\_06.
- Bengtsson, J., Ahnström, J., Weibull, A.C., 2005. The effects of organic agriculture on biodiversity and abundance: a meta-analysis. J. Appl. Ecol. 42, 261–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01005.x.
- Bianchi, F.J., Wäckers, F.L., 2008. Effects of flower attractiveness and nectar availability in field margins on biological control by parasitoids. Biol. Control 46, 400–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2008.04.010.
- Biggs, C.R., Yeager, L.A., Bolser, D.G., Bonsell, C., Dichiera, A.M., Hou, Z., Keyser, S.R., Khursigara, A.J., Lu, K., Muth, A.F., Negrete Jr., B., Erisman, B.E., 2020. Does functional redundancy affect ecological stability and resilience? A review and meta-analysis. Ecosphere 11, e03184. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3184.
- Blassioli-Moraes, M. C., Venzon, M., Silveira, L. C. P., Gontijo, L. M., Togni, P. H. B., Sujii, E. R., Haro, M.M., Borges, M., Michereff, M.F.F., de Aquino, M.F.S., Laumann, R.A., John, C., Birkett, M., 2022. Companion and Smart Plants: Scientific Background to Promote Conservation Biological Control. Neotrop. Entomol. 51, 171–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13744-021-00939-2
- Brazil, 2003. Lei Nº 10.831, de 23 de dezembro de 2003. Presidência da República, Casa Civil, Subchefia para Assuntos Jurídicos. https://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil\_03/leis/2003/110.831.htm.
- Brazil, 2007. Decreto Nº 6.323, de 27 de dezembro de 2007. Presidência da República, Casa Civil, Subchefia para Assuntos Jurídicos. https://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil\_03/\_ato2007-2010/2007/decreto/d6323.htm.

- Calderón-Arroyo, C., Togni, P.H., Pantoja, G.M., Saenz, A.S., Venzon, M., 2023. Plants for Fitness Enhancement of a Coffee Leaf Miner Parasitoid. Agriculture 13, 244. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture13020244.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S., Naeem, S., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Cardoso, P., Pekár, S., Jocqué, R., Coddington, J.A., 2011. Global patterns of guild composition and functional diversity of spiders. PloS One, 6, e21710. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021710.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Biesmeijer, J.C., Benadi, G., Fründ, J., Stang, M., Bartomeus, I., Kaiser-Bunbury, C.N., Baude, M., Gomes, S.I.F., Merckx, V., Baldock, K.C.R., Bennett, A.T.D, Boada, R., Bommarco, R., Cartar, R., Chacoff, N., Dänhardt, J., Dicks, L.V., Dormann, C.F., Ekroos, J., Henson, K.S.E., Holzschuh, A., Robert R. Junker, R.R., Lopezaraiza-Mikel, M., Memmott, J., Montero-Castaño, A., Nelson, I.L., Petanidou, T., Power, E.F., Rundlöf, M., Smith, H.G., Stout, J.C., Temitope, K., Tscharntke, T., Tscheulin, T., Vilà, M., Kunin, W. E., 2014. The potential for indirect effects between co-flowering plants via shared pollinators depends on resource abundance, accessibility and relatedness. Ecol. Lett. 17. 1389-1399. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12342
- Castro, É.C., Camargo, N.F., Novaes, D.R., Pereira, M.A., Nardoto, G.B., Togni, P.H., 2023. Largescale crops are sources of polyphagous pest populations for small farmers at the landscape level: an isotope tracing model. J. Pest Sci., 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-023-01663z.
- Chan-Canché, R., Ballina-Gómez, H., Leirana-Alcocer, J., Bordera, S., González-Moreno, A., 2020. Sampling of parasitoid Hymenoptera: influence of the height on the ground. J. Hymenopt. Res. 78, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.3897/jhr.78.54309.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., O'Rourke, M.E., Blitzer, E.J., Kremen, C., 2011. A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. Ecol. Lett. 14, 922–932. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01642.x.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., de Valpine, P., Mills, N.J., & Kremen, C., 2013. Detecting pest control services across spatial and temporal scales. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 181, 206–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.007.

- Clarke, D.A., York, P.H., Rasheed, M.A., Northfield, T.D., 2017. Does biodiversity–ecosystem function literature neglect tropical ecosystems?. Trends Ecol. Evol. 32, 320–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.02.012.
- Concepcion, E.D., Díaz, M., Kleijn, D., Baldi, A., Batary, P., Clough, Y., Gabriel, D., Herzog, F., Holzschuh, A., Knop, E., Marshall, E.J.P., Tscharntke, T., Verhulst, J., 2012. Interactive effects of landscape context constrain the effectiveness of local agri-environmental management. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02131.x.
- Corbett, A., Rosenheim, J.A., 1996. Quantifying movement of a minute parasitoid, Anagrus epos (Hymenoptera: Mymaridae), using fluorescent dust marking and recapture. Biol. Control 6, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1006/bcon.1996.0005.
- Crist, T.O., Peters, V.E., 2014. Landscape and local controls of insect biodiversity in conservation grasslands: implications for the conservation of ecosystem service providers in agricultural environments. Land 3, 693–718. https://doi.org/10.3390/land3030693.
- da Silva, F. A. M., Assad, E. D., Steinke, E. T., & Müller, A. G. (2008). Clima do bioma Cerrado, in: Albuquerque, A. C. S., & da Silva, A. G. (Eds.). Agricultura tropical: quatro décadas de inovações tecnológicas, institucionais e políticas. Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, Brasília, pp. 93–148. https://www.embrapa.br/busca-de-publicacoes/-/publicacao/507674/agriculturatropical--quatro-decadas-de-inovacoes-tecnologicas-institucionais-e-politicas.
- De Marco Jr, P., de Souza, R.A., FA Andrade, A., Villén-Pérez, S., Nóbrega, C.C., Campello, L.M., Caldas, M., 2023. The value of private properties for the conservation of biodiversity in the Brazilian Cerrado. Science 380, 298–301. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abq7768.
- Duffy, J.E., Cardinale, B.J., France, K.E., McIntyre, P.B., Thébault, E., Loreau, M., 2007. The functional role of biodiversity in ecosystems: incorporating trophic complexity. Ecol. Lett. 10, 522–538. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01037.x.
- Evans, E.W., 2018. Dispersal in host–parasitoid interactions: Crop colonization by pests and specialist enemies. Insects, 9, 134. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects9040134.
- Fahrig, L., Baudry, J., Brotons, L., Burel, F.G., Crist, T.O., Fuller, R.J., Sirami, C., Siriwardena, G.M., Martin, J.L., 2011. Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Ecol. Lett. 14, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01559.x.

- Fonseca, C.R., Prado, P.I., Almeida-Neto, M., Kubota, U., Lewinsohn, T.M., 2005. Flower-heads, herbivores, and their parasitoids: food web structure along a fertility gradient. Ecol Entomol. 30, 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0307-6946.2005.00664.x.
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., 2016. A review of processes behind diversity—productivity relationships in forests. Curr. For. Rep. 2, 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-016-0031-2.
- Gardiner, M.M., Landis, D.A., Gratton, C., DiFonzo, C.D., O'neal, M., Chacon, J.M., Wayo, M.T., Schmidt, N.P., Mueller, E.E., Heimpel, G.E., 2009. Landscape diversity enhances biological control of an introduced crop pest in the north-central USA. Ecol. Appl. 19, 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1265.1.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Wright, D.J., Leather, S.R., 2011. The effects of farming system and fertilisers on pests and natural enemies: a synthesis of current research. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 141, 261– 270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.03.014.
- Gontijo, L.M., Beers, E.H., & Snyder, W.E., 2015. Complementary suppression of aphids by predators and parasitoids. Biol. Control 90, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2015.06.002.
- González, E., Štrobl, M., Janšta, P., Hovorka, T., Kadlec, T. Knapp, M., 2022. Artificial temporary non-crop habitats support parasitoids on arable land. Biol. Conserv. 265, 109409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109409.
- Goulet, H., Huber, J.T., 1993. Hymenoptera of the world: an identification guide to families. Agriculture Canada, Ottawa. https://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications?id=35617.
- Harterreiten-Souza, É.S., Togni, P.H., Capellari, R.S., Bickel, D., Pujol-Luz, J.R., Sujii, E.R., 2021. Spatiotemporal dynamics of active flying Diptera predators among different farmland habitats. Agric For. Entomol. 23, 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12435.
- Hatt, S., Uyttenbroeck, R., Lopes, T., Chen, J.L., Piqueray, J., Monty, A., Francis, F., 2018. Effect of flower traits and hosts on the abundance of parasitoids in perennial multiple species wildflower strips sown within oilseed rape (Brassica napus) crops. Arthropod-Plant Interact. 12, 787–797. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11829-017-9567-8.
- Hawro, V., Ceryngier, P., Kowalska, A., Ulrich, W., 2017. Landscape structure and agricultural intensification are weak predictors of host range and parasitism rate of cereal aphids. Ecol. Res. 32, 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-016-1419-y

- Hsieh, T.C., Ma, K.H., Chao, A., 2016. iNEXT: an R package for rarefaction and extrapolation of species diversity (Hill numbers). Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 1451–1456. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12613.
- Jablonski, D., Roy, K., Valentine, J.W., 2006. Out of the tropics: evolutionary dynamics of the latitudinal diversity gradient. Science 314, 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1130880.
- Ji, J., Wang, L., 2022. Competitive exclusion and coexistence in an intraguild predation model with Beddington–DeAngelis functional response. Comm. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 107, 106192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnsns.2021.106192.
- Karp, D.S., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Meehan, T.D., Martin, E.A., DeClerck, F., Grab, H., Gratton, C., Hunt, L., Larsen, A.E., Martínez-Salinas, A., O'Rourke, M.E., Rusch, A., Poveda, K., Jonsson, M., Rosenheim, J.A., Schellhorn, N.A., Tscharntke, T., Wratten, S.D., Zhang, W., Iverson, A.L., Adler, L.S., Albrecht, M., Alignier, A., Angelella, G.M., Anjum, M.Z., Avelino, J., Batáry, P., Baveco, J.M., Bianchi, F.J.J.A., Birkhofer, K., Bohnenblust, E.W., Bommarco, R., Brewer, M.J., Caballero-López, B., Carrière, Y., Carvalheiro, L.G., Cayuela, L., Centrella, M., Ćetković, A., Henri, D.C., Chabert, A., Costamagna, A.C., De la Mora, A., de Kraker, J., Desneux, N., Diehl, E., Diekötter, T., Dormann, C.F., Eckberg, J.O., Entling, M.H., Fiedler, D., Franck, P., van Veen, F.J.F., Frank, T., Gagic, V., Garratt, M.P.D., Getachew, A., Gonthier, D.J., Goodell, P.B., Graziosi, I., Groves, R.L., Gurr, G.M., Hajian-Forooshani, Z., Heimpel, G.E., Herrmann, J.D., Huseth, A.S., Inclán, D.J., Ingrao, A.J., Iv, P., Jacot, K., Johnson, G.A., Jones, L., Kaiser, M., Kaser, J.M., Keasar, T., Kim, T.N., Kishinevsky, M., Landis, D.A., Lavandero, B., Lavigne, C., Le Ralec, A., Lemessa, D., Letourneau, D.K., Liere, H., Lu, Y., Lubin, Y., Luttermoser, T., Maas, B., Mace, K., Madeira, F., Mader, V., Cortesero, A.M., Marini, L., Martinez, E., Martinson, H.M., Menozzi, P., Mitchell, M.G.E., Miyashita, T., Molina, G.A.R., Molina-Montenegro, M.A., O'Neal, M.E., Opatovsky, I., Ortiz-Martinez, S., Nash, M., Östman, Ö., Ouin, A., Pak, D., Paredes, D., Parsa, S., Parry, H., Perez-Alvarez, R., Perović, D.J., Peterson, J.A., Petit, S., Philpott, S.M., Plantegenest, M., Plećaš, M., Pluess, T., Pons, X., Potts, S.G., Pywell, R.F., Ragsdale, D.W., Rand, T.A., Raymond, L., Ricci, B., Sargent, C., Sarthou, J., Saulais, J., Schäckermann, J., Schmidt, N.P., Schneider, G., Schüepp, C., Sivakoff, F.S., Smith, H.G., Whitney, K.S., Stutz, S., Szendrei, Z., Takada, M.B., Taki, H., Tamburini, G., Thomson, L.J., Tricault, Y., Tsafack, N., Tschumi, M., Valantin-Morison, M., Trinh, M.V., van der Werf, W., Vierling, K.T., Werling, B.P., Wickens, J.B., Wickens, V.J., Woodcock, B.A., Wyckhuys, K., Xiao, H., Yasuda, M., Yoshioka, A., Zou, Y., 2018. Crop

pests and predators exhibit inconsistent responses to surrounding landscape composition. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, E7863–E7870. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1800042115.

- Lai, J., Zou, Y., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., Mao, L. (2022). glmm. hp: an R package for computing individual effect of predictors in generalized linear mixed models. J. Plant Ecol. 15, 1302– 1307. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtac096.
- Landis, D.A., 2017. Designing agricultural landscapes for biodiversity-based ecosystem services. Basic Appl Ecol. 18, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2016.07.005.
- Lavandero, B., Wratten, S., Shishehbor, P., Worner, S., 2005. Enhancing the effectiveness of the parasitoid Diadegma semiclausum (Helen): movement after use of nectar in the field. Biol. Control 34, 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2005.04.013.
- Letourneau, D.K., Jedlicka, J.A., Bothwell, S.G., Moreno, C.R., 2009. Effects of natural enemy biodiversity on the suppression of arthropod herbivores in terrestrial ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 40, 573. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120320.
- Longland, W.S., Ostoja, S.M., 2013. Ecosystem services from keystone species: diversionary seeding and seed-caching desert rodents can enhance Indian ricegrass seedling establishment. Restor. Ecol. 21, 285-291. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2012.00895.x.
- Lowe, E.B., Iuliano, B., Gratton, C., Ives, A.R., 2022. 'Scalescape': an R package for estimating distance-weighted landscape effects on an environmental response. Landsc. Ecol. 37, 1771– 1785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-022-01437-5.
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R., Polaszek, A., Morris, R. J., Craze, P. G., Planqué, R., Symondson, W.O.C, Memmott, J. (2009). Do differences in food web structure between organic and conventional farms affect the ecosystem service of pest control?. Ecol. Lett. 12, 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01279.x.
- Macfadyen, S., Craze, P.G., Polaszek, A., van Achterberg, K., Memmott, J., 2011. Parasitoid diversity reduces the variability in pest control services across time on farms. Proc. R. Soc. B: Biol. Sci. 278, 3387–3394. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.2673.
- Martin, E.A., Reineking, B., Seo, B., Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2013. Natural enemy interactions constrain pest control in complex agricultural landscapes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 5534–5539. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215725110.
- May, R.M., Hassell, M.P., Anderson, R.M., & Tonkyn, D.W. (1981). Density dependence in hostparasitoid models. J. Anim. Ecol, 855–865. https://doi.org/10.2307/4142.

- Metzger, J.P., Bustamante, M.M., Ferreira, J., Fernandes, G.W., Librán-Embid, F., Pillar, V.D., Prist, P.R., Rodrigues, R.R., Vieira, I.C.G., Overbeck, G.E., 2019. Why Brazil needs its legal reserves. Perspect. Ecol. Conserv. 17, 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecon.2019.07.002.
- Monge-González, M.L., Guerrero-Ramírez, N., Krömer, T., Kreft, H., Craven, D., 2021. Functional diversity and redundancy of tropical forests shift with elevation and forest-use intensity. J. Appl. Ecol. 58, 1827–1837. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13955.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., Da Fonseca, G.A., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501.
- Novaes, D.R., Sujii, P.S., Rodrigues, C.A., Silva, K.M., Machado, A.F., Inoue-Nagata, A.K., Nakasu, E.Y.T., Togni, P.H., 2023. Natural habitat connectivity and organic management modulate pest dispersal, gene flow, and natural enemy communities. Ecol. Appl., e2938. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2938.
- Nyman, T., 2010. To speciate, or not to speciate? Resource heterogeneity, the subjectivity of similarity, and the macroevolutionary consequences of niche-width shifts in plant-feeding insects. Biol. Rev. 85, 393–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2009.00109.x.
- Obanyi, J., Nyaanga, J., Mulwa, R., Ogendo, J., Bett, P.K., Cheruiyot, E., Arnold, S.E.J., Belmain, S.R., Stevenson, P., 2024. Flowering margins support natural enemies between cropping seasons. Front. Agron. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fagro.2024.1277062.
- Oksanen, J., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., O'Hara, B., Stevens, M.H.H., Oksanen, M.J., Suggests, M.A.S.S., 2007. The vegan package. Community Ecol. Package 10, 719. http://vegan.r-forge.rproject.org/.
- Oliver, T.H., Isaac, N.J., August, T.A., Woodcock, B.A., Roy, D.B., Bullock, J.M., 2015. Declining resilience of ecosystem functions under biodiversity loss. Nat. Commun. 6, 10122. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10122.
- Pastore, A.I., Barabás, G., Bimler, M.D., Mayfield, M.M., Miller, T.E., 2021. The evolution of niche overlap and competitive differences. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 5, 330–337. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-01383-y.
- Plećaš, M., Gagić, V., Janković, M., Petrović-Obradović, O., Kavallieratos, N.G., Tomanović, Ž., Thies, C., Tscharntke, T. Ćetković, A., 2014. Landscape composition and configuration influence cereal aphid–parasitoid–hyperparasitoid interactions and biological control

differentially across years. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 183, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.016.

- Prado P., Dantas Miranda M., Chalom A., 2024. sads: Maximum Likelihood Models for Species Abundance Distributions. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=sads.
- Qian, J.J., Akçay, E., 2020. The balance of interaction types determines the assembly and stability of ecological communities. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 4, 356–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1121-x.
- Ramos, D.L., Cunha, W.L., Evangelista, J., Lira, L.A., Rocha, M.V.C., Gomes, P.A., Frizzas, M.R., Togni, P.H.B., 2020. Ecosystem services provided by insects in Brazil: What do we really know?. Neotrop. Entomol. 49, 783–794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13744-020-00781-y.
- Rand, T.A., Tylianakis, J.M., Tscharntke, T., 2006. Spillover edge effects: the dispersal of agriculturally subsidized insect natural enemies into adjacent natural habitats. Ecol. Lett. 9, 603–614. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00911.x.
- Raven, P.H., Gereau, R.E., Phillipson, P.B., Chatelain, C., Jenkins, C.N., Ulloa Ulloa, C., 2020. The distribution of biodiversity richness in the tropics. Sci. Adv. 6, eabc6228. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abc6228.
- Rezende, M.Q., Venzon, M., Perez, A.L., Cardoso, I.M., Janssen, A., 2014. Extrafloral nectaries of associated trees can enhance natural pest control. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 188, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.02.024.
- Ribeiro, J.F., Walter, B.M.T., 2008. As principais fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado, in: de Almeida,
  S.P., Ribeiro, J.F., Sano, S., Semiramis Pedrosa de Almeida, P.A.C., Cerrado: ecologia e flora,
  Embrapa Cerrados: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, Brasília, pp. 151–212.
  https://www.infoteca.cnptia.embrapa.br/infoteca/handle/doc/570911.
- Roxburgh, S.H., Shea, K., Wilson, J.B., 2004. The intermediate disturbance hypothesis: patch dynamics and mechanisms of species coexistence. Ecology 85, 359–371. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0266.
- Rusch, A., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Gardiner, M.M., Hawro, V., Holland, J., Landis, D., Thies, C., Tscharntke, T., Weisser, W.W., Winqvist, C., Woltz, M., Bommarco, R., 2016. Agricultural landscape simplification reduces natural pest control: A quantitative synthesis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 221, 198–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.01.039.

- Sano, E.E., Rodrigues, A.A., Martins, E.S., Bettiol, G.M., Bustamante, M.M., Bezerra, A.S., Couto Jr., A.F., Vasconcelos, V., Schüler, J., Bolfe, E.L., 2019. Cerrado ecoregions: A spatial framework to assess and prioritize Brazilian savanna environmental diversity for conservation. J. Environ. Manag. 232, 818–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.11.108.
- Snyder, W.E., 2019. Give predators a complement: Conserving natural enemy biodiversity to improve biocontrol. Biol. Control 135, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2019.04.017.
- Souza Jr, C.M., Shimbo, J.Z., Rosa, M.R., Parente, L.L., Alencar, A.A., Rudorff, B.F., Heinrich Hasenack, H., Matsumoto, M., Ferreira, L.G., Souza-Filho, P.W.M., de Oliveira, S.W., Rocha, W.F., Fonseca, A.V., Marques, C.B., Diniz, C.G., Costa, D., Monteiro D., Rosa, E.R., Vélez-Martin, E., Weber, E.J., Lenti, F.E.B., Paternost, F.F., Pareyn, F.G.C., Siqueira, J.V., Viera, J.L., Neto, L.C.F., Saraiva, M.M., Sales, M.H., Salgado, M.P.G., Vasconcelos, R., Galano, S., Mesquita, V.V., Azevedo, T., 2020. Reconstructing three decades of land use and land cover changes in brazilian biomes with landsat archive and earth engine. Remote Sens. 12, 2735. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12172735.
- Straub, C.S., Finke, D.L., & Snyder, W.E., 2008. Are the conservation of natural enemy biodiversity and biological control compatible goals?. Biol. Control 45, 225–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2007.05.013.
- Tentelier, C., Desouhant, E., Fauvergue, X., 2006. Habitat assessment by parasitoids: mechanisms for patch use behavior. Behav. Ecol. 17, 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arj062.
- Thies, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2003. Effects of landscape context on herbivory and parasitism at different spatial scales. Oikos 101, 18–25. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12567.x.
- Thies, C., Roschewitz, I., Tscharntke, T., 2005. The landscape context of cereal aphid–parasitoid interactions. Proc. R. Soc. B: Biol. Sci. 272, 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2004.2902.
- Togni, P.H., Venzon, M., Souza, L.M., Santos, J.P., Sujii, E.R., 2019a. Biodiversity provides whitefly biological control based on farm management. J. Pest Sci. 92, 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-018-1021-x.
- Togni, P.H., Venzon, M., Souza, L.M., Sousa, A.A., Harterreiten-Souza, É.S., Pires, C.S., Sujii, E.R., 2019b. Dynamics of predatory and herbivorous insects at the farm scale: the role of cropped and noncropped habitats. Agric. For. Entomol. 21, 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12337.

- Togni, P.H.B., Venzon, M., Lagôa, A.C.G., Sujii, E.R., 2019c. Brazilian legislation leaning towards fast registration of biological control agents to benefit organic agriculture. Neotrop. Entomol. 48, 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13744-019-00675-8.
- Togni, P.H., Harterreiten-Souza, E.S., Novaes, D.R., Sujii, E.R., 2021. Spatial dynamic and spillover of the polyphagous pest Bemisia tabaci is influenced by differences in farmland habitats on tropical organic farms. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 320, 107610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2021.107610.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Thies, C., 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity–ecosystem service management. Ecol. Lett. 8, 857–874. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00782.x.
- Tscharntke, T., Grass, I., Wanger, T.C., Westphal, C., Batáry, P., 2021. Beyond organic farming– harnessing biodiversity-friendly landscapes. Trends Ecol. Evol. 36, 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.06.010.
- Venzon, M., Amaral, D.S.S.L., Togni, P.H.B., Chiguachi, J.A.M., 2019. Interactions of natural enemies with non-cultivated plants, in: Souza, B., Vázquez, L.L., Rosangela C. Marucci, R.C., Natural enemies of insect pests in neotropical agroecosystems: biological control and functional biodiversity. Springer, Cham, pp. 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-24733-1\_2.
- Venzon, M., 2021. Agro-ecological management of coffee pests in Brazil. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5, 721117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.721117.
- Wäckers, F.L., 2004. Assessing the suitability of flowering herbs as parasitoid food sources: flower attractiveness and nectar accessibility. Biol. Control 29, 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2003.08.005.
- Willig, M.R., Kaufman, D.M., Stevens, R.D., 2003. Latitudinal gradients of biodiversity: pattern, process, scale, and synthesis. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 34, 273–309. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.012103.144032.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# From field to theory: using trophic networks and mathematical modelling to understand biological control by parasitoids in space and time

# ABSTRACT

The threat suffered by the world's biodiversity has raised concern about the provision of ecosystem services essential for human life. However, an increase in biodiversity does not always result in greater provision, due to differences in how species interact with each other and their habitats. Here we evaluate how non-crop plant stripes affect the network of interaction involving parasitoids and aphids in organic tropical brassica crops. First, we compared the topology of the interaction networks within the crops and on adjacent non-crop plants based on modularity and nestedness. Subsequently, we used the information from the networks to conduct data driven simulations of host-parasitoid population dynamics using an adapted version of the generalized Lotka-Volterra model. We simulated scenarios of normal conditions, favoring an alternative native host, favoring an alternative pest, and favoring an alternative parasitoid. The most important pest in organic brassica fields was *Brevicoryne brassicae*, which presented a specialized interaction with the parasitoid Diaretiella rapae, responsible for ~90% of its parasitism. Myzus persicae was the most abundant alternative pest while Uroleucon species were the most common native host. Praon volucre was the most abundant alternative parasitoid. In general, we show that interactions in the lower trophic level tend to be more nested, while in the higher trophic level they are more modular. We show that most significant differences in network metrics between crop field and non-crop plant stripes were observed at the higher trophic level of parasitoidhyperparasitoid interactions. Differences in modularity between non-crop plants and brassica fields were significantly larger than expected at random, while differences in nestedness were significantly smaller than expected at random. Additionally, we showed that the difference in nestedness between aphid-parasitoid networks sustained by different non-crop plants was significantly smaller than expected at random, suggesting that factors beyond plant identity define this metric in the non-crop plant stripes. Through the population dynamics simulations, we show that alternative hosts and parasitoids can help control the populations of the main brassica pest B. brassicae, but it is necessary to further understand these interactions to avoid chaotic dynamics.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Global Biodiversity loss generates concern about the maintenance of future ecosystem services (Cardinale et al., 2012). It is a fact that there is a relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem service provision (Tilman et al., 2001; Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Brockerhoff et al., 2017). However, a positive effect on service provision is not always achieved by increasing biodiversity (Straub et al., 2008; Letourneauet al., 2009; Macfadyen et al., 2011a; Forrester & Bauhus, 2016), and it is necessary to understand how species interact with each other. Biological control, for example, can be negatively affected by increases in natural enemy diversity if the added species interact antagonistically, for example, through competition, intraguild predation, or hyperparasitism (Martin et al., 2013; Tougeron & Tena, 2019). Conversely, a positive effect of biodiversity on this service is expected when there is complementarity in resource utilization by the present natural enemies (Macfadyen et al., 2011a). In this context, the structure of these interaction networks is mediated by habitat features, which influences the need for species to compete for resources or the possibility of using them in a complementary way (Brose et al., 2004; Janssen et al., 2007; Cagnolo et al., 2009; Macfadven et al., 2009; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Landis, 2017). Ultimately, habitat features and the structure of interaction networks will determine how the provision of ecosystem services is maintained in space and time.

Spatial relatioshnships mediate important features of its species interaction networks, such as interaction richness, modularity, and interaction nestedness (Post & Hairston, 2000; Tylianakis et al., 2007). In pest-natural enemy networks, modularity may be benefited by habitat diversification and species identity, suggesting that each habitat comprises a specific set of interactions, with specialists being primarily influenced at smaller spatial scales, while generalists respond well to different scales (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011; Macfadyen et al., 2011b). Furthermore, modified and homogeneous habitats may decrease modularity as they are favorable for generalist species connecting the different modules (Tylianakis et al., 2007; Aizen et al., 2008). Conversely, interaction nestedness, is benefited by habitat suppression (Tylianakis et al., 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2011; Macfadyen et al., 2011b), releasing species from top-down control and resulting in the loss of ecosystem services provided by higher trophic levels (Post & Hairston, 2000; Dobson, 2009). At the population level, higher proportions of natural habitats around the cultivated area can increase the density of pest consumers, reducing its population growth and decreasing its density at harvest (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2013). Habitat management can also affect the network of natural enemy interactions through alternative prey and resources (Landis et al. 2000; Macfadyen et al., 2009; Landis, 2017; Blassioli-Moraes et al., 2022). In this context, managing non-crop plants can increase alternative prey and host resources allowing

greater complementarity in resource use by natural enemies (Venzon et al., 2019; Bianchi & Wäckers, 2008; Macfadyen et al., 2011b; Hatt et al., 2018).

The interactions that natural enemies sustain with their preys, hosts and environments constrain their population dynamics over time (Yoo & O'Neil, 2009; Welch & Harwood, 2014; Rosero et al., 2024). With a theoretical model, Rosero et al. (2024) showed that the same set of species interactions can result in different dynamics depending on habitat heterogeneity. Plant resources can benefit natural enemies in heterogenous habitats, but they benefit pest populations in homogeneous habitats due to the liberation of top-down regulation (Rosero et al., 2024). The success of biological control services depend widely on these cyclical dynamics. If natural enemy populations are established before the population peak of the pest, biological control may succeed, while if this happens after a pest populational boom, the crops may be already damaged by pests (Yoo & O'Neil, 2009). Crop environments are cyclical by nature, from crop-management cycles to phenological cycles of the managed plants. In this sense, understanding the temporal dynamics of pest-natural enemy interactions is essential to conduct overlapping management cycles that benefit natural enemies and biological control (Welch & Harwood, 2014).

Parasitoid wasps (Hymenoptera) comprise a large group of natural enemies of agricultural pests widely used in biological control strategies (Thies et al., 2003; Tylianakis et al., 2004; Plećaš et al., 2014; Gontijo et al., 2015; Eid et al., 2018; Kaser & Heimpel, 2018). Parasitoids respond well to habitat structure, making them useful models for the study of spatially explicit interaction networks (Hatt et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2020). This response occurs in part due to the increase in alternative hosts, i.e., new oviposition sites and food resources for the larvae (Holzschuh et al., 2010). Non-crop plant strips can promote an increase in host diversity and abundance and are important for maintaining, primarily, specialist parasitoids through the diversification of habitats and resources (Tscharntke, et al., 2005; Holzschuh et al., 2010). Additionally, parasitoids show characteristic cyclical dynamics with their hosts, which can be influenced by habitat features (Welch & Harwood, 2014; Rosero et al., 2024). Therefore, understanding how parasitoid interactions with their primary and alternative hosts influence their population dynamics over time is essential to develop management plans appropriate for each farm contexts and cycles.

We seek to understand how non-crop plant stripes mediate interactions sustained by aphid parasitoids and how these interactions influence parasitoid population dynamic over time in tropical organic Brassicaceae crops. Specifically, we asked the following questions: i) How local non-crop plants influence network structure in aphid-parasitoid interaction networks. ii) How host-parasitoid interactions sustained by non-crop plant stripes modulate population dynamics in normal conditions and when we artificially favor alternative hosts and alternative parasitoids. We predict that parasitoid interaction networks will show higher nestedness inside the crop filed, due to the higher frequency of generalists and a higher modularity in the non-crop plant stripes, where resource diversity can allow parasitoid to use their preferred resources creating different modules. Therefore, we expect that an increase in the population of alternative hosts and parasitoids benefited by the non-crop plant stripes will result in a decay off pest populations over time.

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### Study area

This study was performed from August to October 2022 and 2023 in 25 organic farms cropping collards (*Brassica oleracea*, Brassicaceae) in the Brazilian Federal District (15°47' S, 47°56' W, 1000m above the sea level). The region is in the core of the Cerrado biome, the Brazilian tropical savanna, one of the 25 most important terrestrial biodiversity hotspots (Myers et al., 2000). The Cerrado is the second largest Brazilian biome (2 million km<sup>2</sup>) and 52,9% of its area is currently used for agricultural activities (Sano et al., 2019). The native vegetation of the biome is mostly within private properties and is formed by different plant physiognomies ranging from forest and savanna formations to grasslands (Ribeiro & Walter, 2008; De Marco et al., 2023), being potential reservoirs for beneficial insects like parasitoids.

The sampled farms were distributed within a land use gradient varying between areas dominated by large-scale monocultures to areas composed mostly by fragments of native vegetation. The farms belonged to small farmers (4 – 70 ha) and were certified as organic for at least 5 years (Brazil, 2003, 2007). Bt-based products (*Bacillus thurigiensis*), *Beauveria bassiana*, regular augmentative releases of *Trichogramma pretiosum* (Riley) (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae) and different types of plant extracts were used for pest management according to Brazilian legislation (Togni et al., 2019c). Besides the input restrictions, the farmers usually use management practices to increase beneficial insect biodiversity in their fields, commonly maintaining strips of spontaneous non-crop vegetation nearby or among brassica crops (Assunção et al., 2022). The tropical savanna climate, with a dry winter and a hot and humid summer (da Silva et al., 2008; Alvares et al., 2013), forces farmers to grow collards during winter to avoid rainfall damage. Therefore, we conducted this study in the driest months of the dry season when aphids and parasitoids are abundant in organic brassica fields. The water supply for crops was provided by irrigation with sprinklers.

# Sampling plants, aphids and parasitoids

To assemble the networks of interactions between plant, host, and parasitoids, we sampled the insects inside the crops and on non-crop plant flower stripes nearby the crops. We performed direct collections of 20 plants, 10 brassica plants and 10 non-crop plants collected on the adjacent stripes. The non crop stripes were at most 25m apart from the crop fields and the plants were collected at least 5m apart from the stripe edges. Due to the aggregate distribution of the aphids, our sample was directed to plants infested with aphids, this was especially important in the non-crop stripes where a higher plant diversity was available. In each habitat, the search had a 20 minutes limit, so it ended either when the 10 plants were found or when the time was over. During the collections, the species of plants where the aphids were found were identified using a weed identification manual (Moreira & Bragança, 2011). Afterward, the infested plants were taken to the laboratory where the parasitized aphids were placed in glass tubes, in which adult parasitoids emerged and were then bathed in alcohol. Since some aphids could have been recently parasitized, thus not appearing so, each plant with the rest of the colonies was placed in 20 x 30 cm (diameter x height) cylindrical cage closed with a fine mesh net. The base of the plants was placed inside 10 x 10 cm cups filled with water and the cages were maintained at 25°C with a 12h photoperiod. Every three days the cages were monitored to spot the presence of apparent parasitized aphids, which were carefully removed from the plants using brushes and placed in glass tubes where we proceeded like the ones spotted on the field. The aphids and parasitoids were identified to the level of species and the hyper parasitoids to the level of family and morphospecies.

#### Building the network of plant-pest-parasitoid interactions

To understand how the plant-pest-parasitoid interactions were structured and how the habitat type influence these interactions, we modeled the network of interactions among parasitoids, aphids, brassicas and non-crop plants. The current study system enables that the interaction network is assembled based on confirmed consumption interactions. Our network was conceptually a multilayer network comprised of an array of interaction matrices. Each interaction matrix was composed of weighted pairwise interactions with the resources at the rows and the consumer at the columns (plants x aphids, aphids x parasitoids, parasitoids x hyperparasitoids). We then calculated modularity and link nestedness for aphid-parasitoid and parasitoid-hyperparasitoids interactions (modules), while nestedness measures whether the network is organized into groups of interactions (modules), while nestedness measures the extent to which specialist species interactions are a subset of generalist species interactions. Afterwards we used a randomization process to compare these metrics between networks. The networks were constructed and their metrics calculated using 'bipartite' package for R software

(Dormann et al., 2008). With this, it was possible to investigate how non-crop plants mediate aphidparasitoid and parasitoid-hyperparasitoid interactions in organic tropical fields.

# Simulating the effects of network structure on the population dynamics of pests and parasitoids

To simulate how the structure of the interaction network affect the population dynamics of the host-parasitoid system we used the generalized Lotka-Volterra (gLV) model. To properly conduct the gLV two main datasets are needed: 1) A community matrix with the intensity of each interaction's influence on each species; 2) A matrix of intrinsic growth values for each species. The matrix of intrinsic growth values was built from reference values obtained in literature. To design the community matrix, we need to know which interactions are occurring (the zeros and ones of the community matrix), the interaction types (the sign-pattern of the community matrix) and the per capita interaction strength (the short-term effect of one individual on an individual of another species). The first two, we got directly from our ecological network and the third we estimated using field observations of interaction rates as follows (Rott & Godfray, 2000; Jordan et al., 2003; Wootton & Emmerson, 2005):

 Direct interactions: the strength of a single direct interaction was calculated as the ratio of parasitism frequency.

$$a_{i,j} = \frac{\alpha_{i,j}}{\sum_{j} \alpha_{i,j}},\tag{1}$$

where  $a_{i,j}$  is the interaction matrix, *i* is our host, *j* is the parasitoid and  $\alpha_{x,y}$  is the number of parasitoid link shared by host species (hereon frequency matrix).

 ii) Indirect interactions between hosts: the strength of indirect interactions between host species was quantified based on frequency of links shared by these species with parasitoids. Calculated as:

$$a_{i,j} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\alpha_{k,j}}{\sum\limits_{l=1}^{m} \alpha_{k,l}} \cdot \frac{\alpha_{i,k}}{\sum\limits_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_{i,k}},$$

(2)

where  $a_{i,j}$  is the strength of the indirect effect of species *j* on species *i*, *n* and *m* are the number of parasitoid and host species, respectively.  $\alpha_{x,y}$  is our frequency matrix. While *k* and *l* are parasitoids and hosts, respectively. In this expression, the strength of the indirect interactions is given by the product of the strength of two direct interactions.

With these data we were able to conduct data driven simulations of the effect of network structure on population dynamics of pest and parasitoids through the following gLV model

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dX_i}{dt} = r_i X_i - r_i \frac{X_i}{K_i} \sum_{j=0}^R \omega_{ij} X_j - X_i \sum_{j=0}^P a_{ji} \frac{Y_j}{1 + ha_{ji} X_i} \\ \frac{dY_i}{dt} = Y_i \sum_{j=0}^R a_{ij} k_j \frac{X_j}{1 + ha_{ij} X_j} - Y_i m_i \end{cases}$$

(3)

where  $X_i$  represents the population level of aphid *i* and *Yi* the population of parasitoid *i* on time *t*, *r* represents the intrinsic growth rate, *Ki* is the carrying capacity of aphid *i*,  $\omega ij$  represents the indirect interaction between aphids *i* and *j*,  $a_{ij}$  represents the interaction between parasitoid *i* and aphid *j*, (parasitism probability), *h* is the time parasitoids need to handle the hosts, *k* is the conversion rate of resource into offspring, R and P represent the number of aphids and parasitoid, respectively. All procedures related with the gLV were conducted on Python programming language

# RESULTS

# Network characterization

In terms of host-parasitoid interactions, the most frequent was the parasitism of the aphid *Brevicoryne brassicae* (L.) by the parasitoid *Diaretiella rapae* (McIntosh). *Brevicoryne brassicae* was the most important brassica pest and *D. rapae* was responsible for ~ 90% of its control (Tab. 1). Within the brassica fields, a Figitidae hyperparasitoid dominates at the fourth trophic level, followed by a Pteromalidae species (Tab. 2). In the non-crop plant stripes, aphids were found in *Sonchus oleraceus* (L.) and *Bidens pilosa* (L.) (Fig. 1). The network sustained by *S. oleraceus* were dominated by a native aphid *Uroleucon sonchi* (L.), which were responsible for maintaing the populations of the alternative

parasitoids, *Praon volucre* and *Aphidius* sp. *Diaretiella rapae* was able to parasitize *U. sonchi*, but their populations still account on the individuals of the pest aphids that were occasionaly found on the non-crop plant stripes (Fig. 1). Nevertheless, the combination of *S. oleraceus* and *U. sonchi*, can maintain parasitoid populations between harvests. The same hyper-parasitoid species found on the brassica field were sampled in *S. oleraceus*, but with more equitative numbers and different host preferences. In them, the figitidae hyper-parasitoid prefered *D. rapae* and *P. volucre*, while the Pteromalidae prefered *Aphidius sp*. The Encyrtidae hyperparasitoid, which was nearly absent from the crop fields, had a steep increase in number in *S. oleraceus*, and was the one to show the more generalistic habits. The other non-crop plant in which aphids were found was *B. pilosa*, which showed the most simple network, with only two species of aphids, two primary parasitoids, and no hyperparasitoids. The main aphid found in *B. pilosa* was *Uroleucon ambrosiae*, a different species from the same native genus from the ones found in *S. oleraceus*. However *U. ambrosiae* were more suitable for *D. rapae* than *U. sonchi*, which was dominated by *P. volucre* and *Aphidius sp*. (Fig. 1).

| Plant             | Aphid                    | Parasitoid           |                  |                 |
|-------------------|--------------------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------------|
|                   |                          | Diaretiella<br>rapae | Praon<br>volucre | Aphidius<br>sp. |
| Brassica oleracea |                          |                      |                  |                 |
|                   | Brevicoryne brassicae    | 1018                 | 16               | 1               |
|                   | Myzus persicae           | 85                   | 20               | 0               |
|                   | Lipaphis pseudobrassicae | 11                   | 1                | 0               |
|                   | Uroleucon sonchi         | 1                    | 1                | 1               |
| Sonchus oleraceus |                          |                      |                  |                 |
|                   | Brevicoryne brassicae    | 2                    | 1                | 0               |
|                   | Myzus persicae           | 5                    | 12               | 0               |
|                   | Uroleucon sonchi         | 9                    | 38               | 25              |
| Bidens pilosa     |                          |                      |                  |                 |
|                   | Myzus persicae           | 1                    | 1                | 0               |
|                   | Uroleucon ambrosiae      | 4                    | 3                | 0               |

Table 1 – Number of aphid-parasitoid interactions from organic brassica crops from the Federal District and their non-crop plant stripes.

| Plant             | Parasitoid        | Hyperparasitoid |                   |                 |  |
|-------------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|--|
| Brassica oleracea |                   | Figitidae spp.  | Pteromalidae spp. | Encyrtidae spp. |  |
|                   | Diaretiella rapae | 410             | 123               | 2               |  |
|                   | Praon volucre     | 16              | 3                 | 1               |  |
|                   | Aphidius sp.      | 1               | 1                 | 0               |  |
| Sonchus oleraceus |                   |                 |                   |                 |  |
|                   | Diaretiella rapae | 3               | 1                 | 1               |  |
|                   | Praon volucre     | 3               | 2                 | 2               |  |
|                   | Aphidius sp.      | 1               | 4                 | 1               |  |

Table 2 – Number of parasitoid-hyperparasitoid interactions from organic brassica crops from the Federal District and their non-crop plant stripes.



Figure 1 – Aphid parasitoid and parasitoid-hyper interactions in brassica fields and non-crop plants stripes for organic farms in the Brazilian Federal District. The interactions were identified by isolating a mummy, identifying its species and waiting for the parasitoid to emerge. In case of hyperparasitoid emergence, the primary parasitoid were identified through the mummy when possible, and when unidentifiable, proportional values from the identifiable cases were used.

### Network metrics

In terms of Nestedness of the aphid-parasitoid interctions, the one sustained by *B. oleracea* had the smallest value of nestedness (-0.034), followed by the ones on *B. pilosa* (0.470) and *S. oleraceus* (0.513). When considering the parasitoid-hyper interactions, the ones sustained by *B. oleracea* (0.101) are more nested than the ones sustained by *S. oleraceus* (0.094). Through a randomization process, we saw that for the aphid-parasitoid interactions, the only pair that showed significant differences from

the randomized and observed nestedness was the *S. oleraceus* – *B. pilosa* pair (Fig. 2A). It shows that the observed differences (OD) in nestedness between these two non-crop plants were smaller than expected at random (RD) (OD = 0.018; RD = 0.446 ± 0.008; p = 0.0241[± SE]), what suggests that factors beyond plant identity are modulating interaction nestedness in non-crop plant stripes, but differences between theses stripes and crop fields are maintained as expected (p = 0.3430). Opposingly, the parasitoid-hyper interactions of the crop fields and the non-crop stripes showed differences significantly smaller than expected at random (OD = 0.029; RD = 0.334 ± 0.005; p = 0.0477) (Fig. 2B), what suggests that the non-crop plants modulate interaction nestedness of the crop fields at this trophic level.

In terms of modularity, the most modular networks were the ones sustained by *S. oleraceus*, in which parasitoid-hyper interactions were more modular (0.265), followed by the aphid parasitoid interactions (0.114). The aphid-parasitoid interactions in the brassica fields followed with a modularity of 0.030, but the parasitoid-hyper interactions in these fields had the lowest value of modularity (0.006). At last, the aphid-parasitoid interaction sustained by *B. pilosa* showed the smallest modularity of this trophic level (0.018). The only pairwise difference in modularity that was significantly different from the expected at random was the difference between the parasitoid-hyper interactions sustained by *S. oleraceus* and *B. oleracea* (OD = 0.259; RD =  $0.106 \pm 0.001$ ; p < 0.0001) (Fig. 2C). It shows that the difference in modularity between the main non-crop plant and brassica plants doubled what was expected at random for these interactions, suggesting that in the non-crop plants the hyperparasitoids can select their preferred resource, while in the brassica fields they show generalistic behavior.



Figure 2 – Comparison between observed pair wised differences in network metrics and the expected at random with 2000 permutations. A) pair wised differences in nestedness between aphid parasitoid interactions sustained by *S. oleraceus* and *B. Pilosa*. B) Pair wised differences in nestedness between

parasitoid-hyper interactions sustained by *B. oleracea* and *S. oleraceus*. C) pair wised differences in modularity between parasitoid-hyper interactions sustained by *B. oleracea* and *S. oleraceus*.

#### **Population dynamics simulation**

In a first simulation with normal conditions found in the literature we were able to see a community dominated by *B. brassicae* with *D. rapae* being the only parasitoid that can reach a stable cycle (Fig. 3A). In a second simulation, the main alternative host, *U. sonchi*, was favored by a 10% increase in fecundity (represented by the produced offspring by resource used [k]). In this scenario the apparent competition caused a drastic decrease in the population of the pest *B. brassicae*, which stabilized at low levels, but parasitoid population accompanied this decrease (Fig. 3B). In the third simulation, which favored the secondary pest *M. persicae* with a 15 % increase in fecundity, the populations of *B. brassicae* were also controlled and the *M. persicae* populations peaks were half the size of *B. brassicae* in the first simulations. Additionally, *D. rapae* was also able to stablish stable cycles in this third scenario (Fig. 3C). In the fourth simulation, in which the alternative parasitoid *P. volucre* was favored with a 20% decrease in mortality, *B. brassicae* populations were controlled, but *M. persicae* followed chaotic dynamics with occasional peaks almost twice as high as *B. brassicae* population peaks in normal conditions. Additionally, increasing the populations of the alternative parasitoid *P. volucre*, caused the extinction of the native aphid *U. sonchi*, which may be linked to the populational increase in *M. persicae* (Fig 3D).



Figure 3 – Host-parasitoid population dynamics through generalized Lotka-Volterra equations. A) Normal condition simulation. B) Favoring the alternative native host *Uroleucon spp.* C) Favoring the alternative pest *M. persicae*. D) Favoring the alternative parasitoid *P. volucre*. The green line represents L. pseudobrassicae, but its parameters were not manipulated. The brown and purple lines represent two unidentified aphids from which no parasitoid emerged, generating independent dynamics and were removed from network analysis.

# **DISCUSSION**

Our results show that the interactions undergone by parasitoids in organic tropical agroecosystems tend to be more modular in the non-crop plant stripes than in the crop fields but interaction nestedness was more similar between these habitats than it would be expected at random. Additionally, the non-crop plants favored the alternative hosts and parasitoids, and the main biological control agent was relatively more frequent than pests in these environments. We also show that the inclusion of alternative hosts and parasitoid in these agroecosystems can result in a decay of pest populations, but is important to understand stability in these scenarios, because some generate chaotic dynamics that can result in occasional pest populational peaks, which can lead to yield and economic losses for the farmers.

The differences in modularity observed between the trophic interactions networks that involve parasitoids from non-crop plant stripes and crop fields suggest the alternative resources found in these

stripes allow parasitoid to select their preferred resources, using them complementarily in different modules. In fact, modularity tends to be benefited by habitat diversification and identity, suggesting that each habitat comprises a specific set of complementary interactions (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011; Macfadyen et al., 2011b). Despite this trend, differences in interaction nesting between non-crop plant stripes and crop fields were smaller than expected at random what may reflect the high specialization found in parasitoids or the high habitat heterogeneity of tropical organic agroecosystems, since the contrary is usually expected (Tylianakis et al., 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2011; Macfadyen et al., 2011b; Togni et al., 2019). At last, most of the significant differences observed in the network metrics were observed at the last trophic level of the hyperparasitoids, which represent a threat to the disruption of biological control and shows that local non-crop plant management can modulate these interactions.

Favoring alternative hosts and parasitoids in organic tropical agroecosystems can result in a decay of pest populations. This explains part of the effects of habitat heterogeneity on the population dynamics of natural enemies, since habitat heterogeneity is directly related to alternative resources (Rosero et al., 2024). This lack of alternative resources can also explain theoretical predictions that show that resource abundance benefit pests in homogenous crop habitats and natural enemies in heterogenous habitats (Rosero et al., 2024). It is also important to mention that the stability of these dynamics must be taken in consideration since some scenarios reflected on chaotic dynamics and this is essential to conceal the management cycles of the crop fields with the pest-parasitoids cycles and ensure proper biological control (Yoo & O'Neil, 2009; Welch & Harwood, 2014).

Based on the above we show the importance of non-crop plants on modulating modularity and nestedness in organic tropical agroecosystems, as well as providing alternative hosts and parasitoids that can reduce pest populations over time. The results from this chapter help us understand the ones presented on the first chapter. Flower resource abundance alone was not beneficial for parasitoids because plant diversity and identity must influence this pattern. Meaning that specialized interactions need to be maintained so that modularity and complementarity patterns maintain host-parasitoid cycles in the log term. In this sense, we suggest that future studies go deeper in the methodological novelty suggested in this work, developing methodologies that unite field sampling, experimental ecology and mathematical biology to predict and manage the future of biological control in agroecosystems.

#### REFERENCES

- Aizen, M. A., Morales, C. L., & Morales, J. M. (2008). Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. PLoS biology, 6(2), e31.
- Bianchi, F. J., & Wäckers, F. L. (2008). Effects of flower attractiveness and nectar availability in field margins on biological control by parasitoids. Biological control, 46(3), 400-408.
- Blassioli-Moraes, M. C., Venzon, M., Silveira, L. C. P., Gontijo, L. M., Togni, P. H. B., Sujii, E. R., ... & Birkett, M. (2022). Companion and Smart Plants: Scientific Background to Promote Conservation Biological Control. Neotropical Entomology, 1-17.
- Brockerhoff, E. G., Barbaro, L., Castagneyrol, B., Forrester, D. I., Gardiner, B., González-Olabarria, J. R., ... & Jactel, H. (2017). Forest biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services. Biodiversity and Conservation, 26(13), 3005-3035.
- Brose, U., Ostling, A., Harrison, K., & Martinez, N. D. (2004). Unified spatial scaling of species and their trophic interactions. Nature, 428(6979), 167-171.
- Cagnolo, L., Valladares, G., Salvo, A., Cabido, M., & Zak, M. (2009). Habitat fragmentation and species loss across three interacting trophic levels: effects of life-history and food-web traits. Conservation biology, 23(5), 1167-1175.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., ... & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486(7401), 59-67.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., O'Rourke, M. E., Blitzer, E. J., & Kremen, C. (2011). A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. Ecology letters, 14(9), 922-932.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., de Valpine, P., Mills, N. J., & Kremen, C. (2013). Detecting pest control services across spatial and temporal scales. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 181, 206-212.
- Dobson, A. (2009). Food-web structure and ecosystem services: insights from the Serengeti. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364(1524), 1665-1682.
- Dormann, C. F., Gruber, B., & Fründ, J. (2008). Introducing the bipartite package: analysing ecological networks. interaction, 1(0.2413793), 8-11.

- Eid, A. E., El-Heneidy, A. H., Hafez, A. A., Shalaby, F. F., & Adly, D. (2018). On the control of the cotton aphid, Aphis gossypii Glov.(Hemiptera: Aphididae), on cucumber in greenhouses. Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control, 28(1), 1-6.
- Forrester, D. I., & Bauhus, J. (2016). A review of processes behind diversity—productivity relationships in forests. Current Forestry Reports, 2(1), 45-61.
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., ... & Bengtsson, J. (2013). Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nature communications, 4(1), 1-8.
- Gontijo, L. M., Beers, E. H., & Snyder, W. E. (2015). Complementary suppression of aphids by predators and parasitoids. Biological Control, 90, 83-91.
- Gonzalez, A., Rayfield, B., & Lindo, Z. (2011). The disentangled bank: how loss of habitat fragments and disassembles ecological networks. American journal of botany, 98(3), 503-516.
- Hatt, S., Uyttenbroeck, R., Lopes, T., Chen, J. L., Piqueray, J., Monty, A., & Francis, F. (2018). Effect of flower traits and hosts on the abundance of parasitoids in perennial multiple species wildflower strips sown within oilseed rape (Brassica napus) crops. Arthropod-Plant Interactions, 12(6), 787-797.
- Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Tscharntke, T. (2010). How do landscape composition and configuration, organic farming and fallow strips affect the diversity of bees, wasps and their parasitoids?. Journal of Animal Ecology, 79(2), 491-500.
- Janssen, A., Sabelis, M. W., Magalhães, S., Montserrat, M., & Van Der Hammen, T. (2007). Habitat structure affects intraguild predation. Ecology, 88(11), 2713-2719.
- Jordán, F., Liu, W. C., & van Veen, J. F. (2003). Quantifying the importance of species and their interactions in a host-parasitoid community. Community Ecology, 4(1), 79-88.
- Kaser, J. M., & Heimpel, G. E. (2018). Impact of the parasitoid Aphelinus certus on soybean aphid populations. Biological Control, 127, 17-24.
- Landis, D., Wratten, S., & Gurr, G. (2000). Habitat Management to Conserve Natural Enemies of Arthropod Pests in Agriculture. Annual Review of Entomology, 45(1), 175-201;
- Landis, D. A. (2017). Designing agricultural landscapes for biodiversity-based ecosystem services. Basic and Applied Ecology, 18, 1-12.

- Letourneau, D. K., Jedlicka, J. A., Bothwell, S. G., & Moreno, C. R. (2009). Effects of natural enemy biodiversity on the suppression of arthropod herbivores in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 40, 573.
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R., Polaszek, A., Morris, R. J., Craze, P. G., Planqué, R., ... & Memmott, J. (2009). Do differences in food web structure between organic and conventional farms affect the ecosystem service of pest control?. Ecology letters, 12(3), 229-238.
- Macfadyen, S., Craze, P. G., Polaszek, A., van Achterberg, K., & Memmott, J. (2011a). Parasitoid diversity reduces the variability in pest control services across time on farms. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 278(1723), 3387-3394.
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R. H., Symondson, W. O., & Memmott, J. (2011b). Landscape structure influences modularity patterns in farm food webs: consequences for pest control. Ecological Applications, 21(2), 516-524.
- Martin, E. A., Reineking, B., Seo, B., & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2013). Natural enemy interactions constrain pest control in complex agricultural landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(14), 5534-5539.
- Plećaš, M., Gagić, V., Janković, M., Petrović-Obradović, O., Kavallieratos, N. G., Tomanović, Ž., ... & Ćetković, A. (2014). Landscape composition and configuration influence cereal aphid– parasitoid–hyperparasitoid interactions and biological control differentially across years. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 183, 1-10.
- Post, D. M., Pace, M. L., & Hairston, N. G. (2000). Ecosystem size determines food-chain length in lakes. Nature, 405(6790), 1047-1049.
- Rosero, P., Smith, H. G., & Pontarp, M. (2024). Impacts of landscape heterogeneity on bottom-up effects affecting biological control. Biological Control, 188, 105401.
- Rott, A. S., & Godfray, H. C. J. (2000). The structure of a leafminer-parasitoid community. Journal of Animal ecology, 274-289.
- Straub, C. S., Finke, D. L., & Snyder, W. E. (2008). Are the conservation of natural enemy biodiversity and biological control compatible goals?. Biological control, 45(2), 225-237.
- Thies, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003). Effects of landscape context on herbivory and parasitism at different spatial scales. Oikos, 101, 18-25. 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12567.x;

- Tilman, D., Reich, P. B., Knops, J., Wedin, D., Mielke, T., & Lehman, C. (2001). Diversity and productivity in a long-term grassland experiment. Science, 294(5543), 843-845.
- Togni, P.H., Venzon, M., Souza, L.M., Sousa, A.A., Harterreiten-Souza, É.S., Pires, C.S., Sujii, E.R., 2019. Dynamics of predatory and herbivorous insects at the farm scale: the role of cropped and noncropped habitats. Agric. For. Entomol. 21, 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12337.
- Welch, K. D., & Harwood, J. D. (2014). Temporal dynamics of natural enemy-pest interactions in a changing environment. Biological Control, 75, 18-27.
- Wootton, J. T., & Emmerson, M. (2005). Measurement of interaction strength in nature. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst., 36, 419-444.
- Yoo, H. J. S., & O'Neil, R. J. (2009). Temporal relationships between the generalist predator, Orius insidiosus, and its two major prey in soybean. Biological Control, 48(2), 168-180.

# **GENERAL CONCLUSION**

Our study helps to answer how landscape and local resources mediate parasitoid diversity, their interactions with hosts, and biological control services in cultivated habitats. We showed that non-crop plants can sustain parasitoid richness even if their flower resource abundance is detrimental. Landscape composition was more important than local resources in mediating parasitoid diversity and specific vegetation formations had complementary effects on parasitoid diversity. Near-crop forests (0.42 km) benefited parasitoid species richness, while farther grasslands (1.75 km) benefited abundance. Furthermore, savannas, where trees and grasses coexist, boost both forest benefits on parasitoid richness and grassland benefits on abundance. Additionally, we showed that biodiversity-pest control relationships can show divergent responses in communities with different number of species. The interactions in the lower trophic level tend to be more nested, while in the higher trophic level they are more modular and most significant differences in network metrics between crop fields and non-crop plant stripes occurred at the higher trophic level. The mathematical modelling tool was useful to show that alternative hosts and parasitoids can help control the populations of the main brassica pest B. brassicae. Our result show that natural areas do act as a pool of parasitoid species for organic tropical ecosystems, but knowing specific vegetation formation identity is important when developing management plans for these areas. Additionally, non-crop plant can act as banks of these insect inside farms and the interactions sustained by these plants may be of high importance for biological control services in tropical organic crop fields.